

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 64 (2008) 1147-1179

www.elsevier.com/locate/tet

Tetrahedron report number 823

C_2 and C_1 Symmetry of chiral auxiliaries in catalytic reactions on metal complexes

Valeri A. Pavlov*

N.D. Zelinsky Institute of Organic Chemistry, Russian Academy of Sciences, 47 Leninsky Prospect, Moscow 119991, Russian Federation

Received 18 October 2007 Available online 23 October 2007

Contents

1.	Introduction	1147
2.	Catalytic asymmetric reactions indifferent to C_2-C_1 symmetry of chiral auxiliaries	1148
3.	Addition of diethylzinc to benzaldehyde in the presence of amino alcohols and related compounds	1150
4.	Hydrogen transfer hydrogenation of acetophenone in the presence of Rh, Ir and Ru complexes	1155
5.	Hydrogenation of ketopantoyllactone on Rh and Ru complexes	1159
6.	Hydrogenation of acetophenone and unfunctionalized arylalkenes on Rh, Ir, Ti, Zr and Sm complexes	1159
7.	Hydroformylation of styrene over Rh and Ir complexes	1162
8.	Conjugate addition of diethylzinc to chalcones on Cu and Ni complexes	1165
9.	Other catalytic and stoichiometric reactions with the participation of metal complexes	1166
10.	C ₂ , C ₁ Configurational models	1169
11.	C ₂ , C ₁ Symmetry of chiral molecules in bioorganic chemistry	1171
12.	C ₃ Chiral auxiliaries	1171
13.	Conclusions	1173
	References and notes	1173
	Biographical sketch	1179

1. Introduction

At present, considerable experimental data are available to answer the question put formerly:¹ are chiral auxiliaries with a C_2 symmetry axis (C_2 -symmetric) or C_1 -symmetric chiral (asymmetric) auxiliaries best suited in principle for maximal reaction enantioselectivity? It is believed¹ that 'auxiliaries with C_2 symmetry elements perform as stereochemical directors to provide higher levels of absolute stereochemical control, as compared to those totally lacking symmetry'. Indeed, many asymmetric reactions are very successful using C_2 -symmetric chiral auxiliaries (see, for example, a recent review in Ref. 2). However, there are some reactions,^{3,4} which contradict this postulate. Indeed, 'there is no fundamental reason why a C_2 -symmetric ligand should necessarily be superior to a non-symmetric counterpart. In fact, for certain reactions, good arguments can be found which suggest that non-symmetrical ligands with two different coordinating heteroatoms could allow more effective enantiocontrol than C_2 -symmetric ligands'.⁴ A lack of catalyst symmetry can be helpful for enantioselectivity of some reactions. For example, C_1 -(R,R)-DIOCP (1) is more effective than C_2 -(R,R)-DIOP (2) and C_2 -(R,R)-Cy-DIOP (3) in the asymmetric hydrogenation of ketopantoyllactone on Rh complexes (ee=72-75(R), 37-52(R), 45(R), correspondingly)⁵ in similar reaction conditions.



^{*} Tel.: +7 495 938 3502; fax: +7 495 135 5328. *E-mail address:* pvlv@cacr.ioc.ac.ru

^{0040-4020/\$ -} see front matter @ 2007 Published by Elsevier Ltd. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2007.10.078

In this paper, an effort has been made to compare C_2 - and C_1 -ligand effectiveness in some asymmetric reactions on metal complexes using a single substrate and the same metal atom within a reaction in similar reaction conditions. For example, enantioselectivities of reactions in the presence of complexes with C_2 -diols, C_2 -diamines and C_1 -amino alcohols or C_2 -diamines and N-substituted C_1 -diamines with a similar chiral array have been compared. In these reactions, structural and electronic effects do not prevail over the symmetry parameters. However, this approach fails sometimes, because the structures of C_2 - and C_1 -ligands differ significantly. Thus, in these cases, the comparison has been made formally. The maximal values of ee of a product were compared between reactions over C_2 and C_1 chiral auxiliaries very dissimilar in structure. It has been noted recently⁶ that important intermediates of very enantioselective reactions on complexes with C_2 -ligands are non-symmetric (asymmetric). Reactions with different enantioselectivity levels depending on the C_2 or C_1 symmetry of the chiral auxiliaries are discussed in this paper. It should be emphasized that reactions of this type are observed only for monofunctionalized substrates. Thus, these reactions are outlined in the review in the following sequence of the simplest (mainly aromatic) substrates used: aldehyde, ketone and unfunctionalized olefins.

The next section will briefly review the most studied reactions with very high enantioselectivity values, which do not depend on C_2 or C_1 symmetry of chiral auxiliaries.

2. Catalytic asymmetric reactions indifferent to C_2-C_1 symmetry of chiral auxiliaries

The most efficient ligands 4-20 of Rh complexes in the hydrogenation of amino acid precursors 1 with an enantiomeric excess (ee) of the products are presented below:⁷⁻²⁰





It can be seen that the maximal enantiomeric excess (ee) of reaction 1 products falls within the range from 98 to 100% ee independently of Rh complexes with C_2 -symmetric (4–15) or C_1 -symmetric (16–20) ligands as catalysts. A similar situation is found in the hydrosilylation of acetophenone by diphenylsilane on rhodium and iridium complexes:^{21,22}

The maximal enantioselectivity of reaction 2 on Rh and Ir complexes with ligands 21-23 lies in the interval of 94-98% ee irrespective of ligand symmetry. Along with the hydrogenation



reaction 1, an allylic alkylation reaction 3 on chiral palladium complexes is another well-studied asymmetric reaction:^{6a,23}



This reaction proceeds with maximal ee values on palladium complexes with ligands 24-28.²⁴⁻²⁷



The degrees of enantioselectivity using $C_2(24,25)$ - and $C_1(26-28)$ -symmetric ligands in reaction 3 also do not differ.

A study of styrene cyclopropanation with diazoacetate esters²⁸ includes a very wide range of C_2 -symmetric ligands.

The maximal enantioselectivity[†] is only specific for a complex with C_2 -symmetric ligands **29**.²⁹



RuPy₂(**29)**: R=Et, >99 trans(1*R*,2*R*), >99 cis(1*R*,2*S*) (trans:cis = 3.4:1)²⁹

 C_1 -Symmetric complexes are less well studied in this reaction (maximal ee values 93 $cis(1S,2R)^{28b}$ and 98 $cis(1S,2R)^{30}$).

A well-studied reaction is diethylzinc addition to benzaldehyde catalyzed by titanium complexes:³¹

$$\begin{array}{c} O \\ Ph \\ H \\ H \\ H \\ H \\ H \\ H \\ Et_2 Zn \\ \hline Ti/L^* \\ H_3 O^* \\ H_3 O^* \\ Ph \\ H \\ Et \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} OH \\ * \\ Et \\ \end{array}$$
(5)

As in the case of reactions 1–4, the maximal enantioselectivity of reaction 5 for complexes with C_2 (**30,31**)- and C_1 (**32–34**)-symmetric ligands is actually equal.^{32–36}



A highly enantioselective and well-studied reaction is aldehyde allylation on C_2 chiral Lewis acids with ligands **10** and **35** as catalysts:³⁷



X=Si(OMe)₃ (6); X=SnBu₃ (7)

[†] Because the relationship between enantiomeric trans(1S,2S) and trans(1R,2R) as well as enantiomeric cis(1S,2R) and cis(1R,2S) products of reaction 4 is determined chromatographically, using a chiral column, ee values and trans:cis ratios are accepted to be an indication of enantioselectivity.



Reaction	ML*	ee (conf.)
6	$AgF \cdot (R)$ -10	$94(R)^{38a}$
7	$\operatorname{AgOTf}(S)$ -10	$96(S)^{38b}$
7	Ti(O- <i>i</i> -Pr) ₄ /(R)- 35 /MS 4 Å	$96(R)^{39}$
7	$TiCl_2 \cdot (S)$ -35/MS 4 Å	$97(S)^{40}$
7	Bis-[Ti(O- i -Pr)·(S)- 35]oxide	$96(S)^{41}$
7	InCl ₃ /(S)- 35 /MS 4 Å	$92(S)^{42}$
7	$Zr(O-i-Pr)_2 \cdot (S)-35/MS 4 \text{ Å}$	$93(S)^{43}$

Finally, a good example for comparing the enantioselective action of C_2 - and C_1 -symmetric chiral complexes—the Diels—Alder reaction of Danishefsky's dienes and benzaldehyde,⁴⁴ is shown in reaction 8.

$$Me_{3}SiO + H Ph \frac{1. ML^{*}}{2. CF_{3}COOH} O$$
(8)

No appreciable changes in enantioselectivity are observed in a series of titanium complexes with $C_2(36)$ - and $C_1(37)$ -ligands of analogous structure acting as catalysts in reaction 8.^{45,46}



In line with two alternative mechanisms of reaction $1^{6a,b}$ and mechanisms of reactions $2,^{6b}$ $3,^{6a}$ $4,^{47}$ $5,^{33,48}$ $6,^{37}$ $7,^{37,38}$ $8,^{45,49}$ the starting C_2 -symmetric complexes lose C_2 symmetry prior to the asymmetric induction stage.

All of the above data are in favour of the view that the C_2 and C_1 chiral auxiliaries do not differ in their maximal enantioselective action within the reactions listed above and many others.

3. Addition of diethylzinc to benzaldehyde in the presence of amino alcohols and related compounds

Chiral amino alcohols, amido alcohols, diamines, diols, amino thiols, disulfides and diselenides form part of an in situ catalytic system in the asymmetric alkylation of aldehydes by dialkylzinc.³¹ A standard reaction in this case is also reaction 5, although without $Ti(O-i-Pr)_4$ as a catalytic complex-forming particle.

Experimental and theoretical studies of the mechanism of benzaldehyde and dialkylzinc interaction in the presence of chiral amino alcohols of the type **38** allow the understanding of the reaction-step sequence in this reaction^{31,50-54} (Scheme 1).



In the first stage, a chelate complex of zinc with the amino alcohol (intermediate II) is formed, which is a catalyst of the reaction.

A basic feature of all chiral compounds used as ligands in this reaction is the C_1 symmetry (asymmetry). The ligands **39–60** taking part in the most enantioselective reactions are listed below with ee values of the product (1-phenylpropanol):^{55–78}





Far lower ee values of the product (1-phenylpropanol) are found in the reactions with C_2 -symmetric diols **35**, **61–63**, diamine **65** and diimine **64**:^{79,80}



 C_1 -Amino alcohol **67** gives a far better enantioselectivity in comparison with C_2 -diamine **66**. There are a few tetradentate C_2 -symmetric ligands, which participate in the reaction with high enantioselectivity (Table 1).

As apparent from Table 1, reaction 5 (without Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄) on tetradentate 'dimeric' ligands **69**, **71**, **73**, **75**, **77**, **79**, **80**, **82**, **84**, **86**, **88** and **90** occurs with practically complete coincidence of the product ee values (configuration), as in the case of corresponding 'monomeric' C_1 -symmetric ligands **68**, **70**, **72**, **74**, **76**, **78**, **46**, **81**, **83**, **85**, **87** and **89**. This agreement is unlikely to be accidental. It is assumed that the tetradentate

 C_2 -symmetric ligands are most probably involved in the reaction by their bidentate C_1 -symmetric (asymmetric) fragments. Furthermore, active catalysts of the reaction on disulfides **84**, **86**, **88**, **90** and **91** are most likely to be the corresponding ethylzinc thiolate produced from the disulfide cleavage by diethylzinc, as described earlier.⁹⁶ The same cleavage may also occur in the reaction over diselenide **92**. A few C_2 -symmetric tetradentate ligands, for example, **93** and **94**, in this reaction have not been included in Table 1, due to a lack of pertinent information on the 'monomeric' C_1 -symmetric bidentate ligands.^{94,95,97,98}



There is reason to believe that asymmetric induction in reaction 5 without Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄ takes place in the transition state on the basis of the C_1 -bidentate fragment of C_2 -tetradentate ligands **95** and **96**.⁹⁸

There is experimental evidence that the ligand C_1 -bidentate fragment is involved in the reaction in the case of C_2 -symmetric tridentate ligands **97**, **99**, **101** and **103** (Table 2).

A similarity of the enantioselectivity values in reaction 5 without Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄ in the case of these ligands and their C_1 -symmetric (asymmetric) bidentate fragments in the corresponding ligands **98**, **100**, **102** and **104** adds to this conclusion. Some divergence in the product ee values is observed only with ligands **97** and **98** (Table 2, Entry 1). On the other hand, the reaction in the presence of chiral C_2 -symmetric bidentate ligands proceeds with low enantioselectivity, negligibly small in the case of ligands of the type **105–108** (Table 3). To raise the product ee values, addition of Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄ to the catalytic system is necessary.

This Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄ addition serves as the basis of a stereomechanism of the reaction^{104,105} different from that without Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄. The results of diethylzinc addition to benzaldehyde in the presence of chiral ligands **109–114** with the C_2 symmetry axis passing through the donor nitrogen atom are presented below.^{105–108}

As seen from the ee values, the ability of an oxygen atom in the C_2 -symmetric cyclic fragment of ligands **112–114** to be coordinated by the zinc atom in the intermediate complex, as compared to ligands **109** and **110**, correlates with a positive dramatic rise of the ee values of the reaction product. The Table 1 Addition of diethylzinc to benzaldehyde in the presence of 'monomeric' chiral C_1 -symmetric and 'dimeric' chiral C_2 -symmetric ligands (toluene, rt)

Entry	'Monomeric' ligand	ee [%] (config. of product)	'Dimeric' ligand	ee [%] (config. of product)
1	HO HO HO	90(<i>S</i>) ⁸¹	HO HO HO HE E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	93(S) ⁸²
2	nBu iPr nBu iPr HO N-n-Bu ₂ 70	$97(R)^{83}$	Me <i>i</i> Bu HO HO Et 71	96(<i>R</i>) ⁸²
3	<i>t</i> Bu IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	$90-93(R)^{84}$	tBullion-OH HO 73	93(<i>R</i>) ⁸⁴
4	Me ^N HO ^{Ph}	98(<i>R</i>) ⁸⁵	Me _{ility} N N Me Ph ^{ility} OH HO Ph 75	85(<i>R</i>) ⁸⁵
5	HO Me 76	61(<i>R</i>) ⁸⁶	Me Me Ho Me	65—87(<i>R</i>) ⁸⁶
6	Fe 78	93(<i>R</i>) ⁸⁷	CPh ₂ OH Fe M CPh ₂ OH N Bu N 79	91(<i>R</i>) ⁸⁸
7	Ph Hilter Hilter	99(<i>R</i>) ⁶³	Ph Hinton Ph B0	100(<i>R</i>) ⁶³
8	HS NPh Me 81	82(<i>R</i>) ⁸⁹	^{<i>i</i>Pr PhN S-S NPh Me Me}	80(<i>R</i>) ⁸⁹

Table 1 (continued)



same ability of ligands 109 and 110 is less profound, because the volume of the groups around the oxygen atom prevents the coordination. A molecular model analysis of the above ligands shows that the coordination of ligand donor atoms and the oxygen atom of one of the C_2 -symmetric disposed groups in the N-containing cycle is sterically possible. As a result, the oxygen atom of another group appears to be out of the coordination reach. This leads to a loss of C_2 symmetry in these ligands after the coordination in a catalytic complex. Therefore, a positive boost of enantioselectivity values in this case may be explained by a decline of symmetry of the important intermediate complex, due to the additional coordination of the

Table 2

Addition of diethylzinc to benzaldehyde in the presence of chiral C2-symmetric tridentate ligands and their asymmetric analogues (hexane, rt)⁹⁹



Table 3	
Addition of diethylzinc to benzaldehyde in the	presence of chiral C_2 -symmetric ligands with and without Ti(O- <i>i</i> -Pr) ₄

Entry	Catalytic system PhCHO/Et ₂ Zn/ligand	ee [%] (config. of product	Ref.	Catalytic system PhCHO/Et ₂ Zn/ligand	/Ti(O- <i>i</i> -Pr) ₄	ee [%] (config. of product)	Ref.
1 2 3 4 ^a	(S)-35 105 106 107	No reaction 8(R) 54(S) 15(S)	100 101 33, 102 103	(S)-35 — 106 107		92(S) 	100 33, 102 103
5 ^{b,c} 6 ^d	108 108	15 0	103 104 105				
		TŕNH	HNTf	iPr	Ph _{llin} , J BnNł	Ph H HNBn	
	Ř ř (S)- 35 : R = 105 : R = NI	रे OH 10 6 MePh	6	107		108	
^a In the ^b <i>p</i> -CF ^c Confi ^d <i>p</i> -Me	e presence of MS 4 Å. ${}_{3}C_{6}H_{4}CHO$. iguration of product not indic ${}_{6}C_{6}H_{4}CHO$.	cated.					
	tBuMe ₂	OSiMe ₂ tB	3u Ph Ph HO tBuMe₂Si	<i>t</i> BuMe ₂ SiO H	O N C N C N C N C N C N C N C N C N C N	Ph	
		109 , 9(<i>R</i>) ^{105a}	110, 2	20(S) ^{105b}	111 , 42(<i>S</i>) ^{106,10})7	
	PI	Ph OMe	Ph Ph HO MeO	N OMe		Ph	
		OMe 112 , 92(S) ^{105b}	113,	91(<i>R</i>) ¹⁰⁸	114 , 96(S) ^{106,10})7	

oxygen atom of one of the C_2 -symmetrically disposed groups of the ligands by the zinc atom.

Thus, the complex with C_2 -symmetric ligands of the related structure, being incapable of additional coordination, catalyzes the reaction with less enantioselectivity, because the intermediate complex responsible for asymmetric induction provides a higher symmetry of the elements than the C_1 -axis.

The catalytic cycle has been proposed for reaction 5 without Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄ in the presence of asymmetric ligands of the type **38** and **115**, based on a calorimetric study of the reaction kinetics¹⁰⁹ (Scheme 2).

According to this scheme, the asymmetric induction will proceed during stage II \rightarrow III. Extending mechanistically this model to the reaction in the presence of chiral C_2 -symmetric ligands of the types **105–108** (Scheme 3), it may be assumed that the analogous stage II \rightarrow III is also responsible for asymmetric induction. The key intermediate II that controls asymmetric induction could form in two variants (Scheme 3). These two molecules have very similar structures.

The configurations of ZnEt₂-N fragments of the left parts of these molecules are identical.[‡] The right parts are based on *proS*and *proR*-coordinated benzaldehyde. Therefore, there is reason to believe that the free activation energies of formation of these molecules are very close in value. Hence, it can be assumed that they are formed in similar concentrations. As a result of the reaction stage II \rightarrow III, the enantioselectivity is very low in this case. Thus, it is conceivable that the low enantioselectivity values of reaction 5 without Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄ (Table 3) can be explained on the grounds of the above interpretation. Thus, diethylzinc addition to benzaldehyde in the presence of amino alcohols and related compounds without Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄ occurs with high ee values of the product only for chiral C_1 -symmetric (asymmetric) ligands. This reaction in the presence of chiral C_2 -symmetric bidentate ligands, as a rule, proceeds with very low enantioselectivity values.

[‡] Absolute configurations of the *N*-substituted asymmetric nitrogen atoms in a metal complex of this ligand are the same according to calculations.¹¹⁰



Scheme 2.

38

115



Scheme 3.

4. Hydrogen transfer hydrogenation of acetophenone in the presence of Rh, Ir and Ru complexes

Hydrogen transfer hydrogenation of prochiral ketones is one among the well-studied asymmetric reactions in the presence of chiral metal complexes.¹¹¹ Acetophenone is the most popular substrate in this reaction:

Extremely low ee values of the product have engaged our attention in reaction 9 on rhodium, iridium and ruthenium complexes with chiral C_2 -symmetric bis(diphenyl)phosphine ligands 2, 13 and 116–118:^{111,112a,112b,113}



A modest ee value increase takes place in the case of a complex with asymmetric ligand **119**.

Table 4

Hydrogen transfer hydrogenation of acetophenone on Rh and Ir complexes with diamine, diimine and other bidentate ligands of C_2 and C_1 symmetry

Ligand	Symmetry	М	ee [%] (config. of 1-phenylethanol)	Ref.
65	C_2	Rh	17(<i>R</i>)	112
(S,S)- 120	C_2	Rh	67(<i>R</i>)	112
121	C_2	Rh	28(<i>R</i>)	112
122	C_2	Rh	< 10(R)	115
122	C_2	Ir	<10(<i>R</i>)	115
123	C_2	Rh	43(<i>R</i>)	116
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)-120	C_2	Rh	63(S)	115
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)-120	C_2	Ir	36(S)	115
124	C_2	Rh	37(S)	115
124	C_2	Ir	25(S)	115
125	C_2	Rh	65(S)	115
125	C_2	Ir	50(S)	115
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)- 126	C_2	Rh	12(S)	112c
127	C_2	Rh	0	112c
(R)- 128	C_2	Rh	0	112c
129	C_2	Rh	32 ^a	114
130	C_2	Ir	58(<i>R</i>)	117
131	C_2	Rh	48(S)	118
132	C_2	Rh	10(<i>R</i>)	119
133	C_2	Rh	32(<i>R</i>)	119
134	C_2	Rh	27(<i>R</i>)	119
(S,S)- 135	C_1	Rh	90(S)	120
(S,S)- 135	C_1	Ir	90(S)	120
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)-135	C_1	Rh	90(<i>R</i>)	121, 122
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)- 136	C_1	Rh	97(<i>R</i>)	121
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)- 136	C_1	Ir	96(<i>R</i>)	121
137	C_1	Ir	82(S)	123
138	C_1	Ir	80(<i>R</i>)	123

^a Configuration not indicated.



A quantitative leap in ee values occurs in the transition from chiral C_2 -symmetric ligands **65** and **120–134** to chiral C_1 -symmetric (asymmetric) ligands **135–138** in rhodium and iridium complexes of the [M(diene)Cl]₂/L* type as catalysts of hydrogen transfer hydrogenation of acetophenone (Table 4). Reaction 9 on C_2 -symmetric Rh/(R)-2,2'-diamino-1,1'-binaphthalene (**128**) and Rh(**127**) complexes with ee=0%^{112c} stays absolutely unexplained. A similar situation occurs in the case of Rh and Ir complexes with C_2 -symmetric tetradentate ligands 139–144:^{124–126}

A similar quantitative leap in enantioselectivity of reaction 9 is found in the transition from chiral C_2 - to C_1 -symmetric bidentate ligands (complexes) **145–162** of ruthenium catalysts of the 'in situ' type (Table 5).



Table 5

 C_{2} - and C_{1} -symmetric bidentate ligands



As can be seen, a high degree of enantioselectivity is specific for reaction 9 over ruthenium complexes only with asymmetric ligands. It is interesting to note that the Ru(162) complex will be asymmetric only after a reaction of $[Ru(\eta_6\text{-benzene})Cl_2]_2$ with C_2 -symmetric chiral amine 162.

To the contrary, C_2 -ligand **122** leads to a relatively smaller enantioselectivity. C_2 -Ligands of the type **163–166** are probably not exceptional.¹⁴⁷

Hydrogenation of acetophenone in similar reaction conditions and L*/Ru=1:1 results in the ee values: 17(R), 54(R), 0, 5(R), respectively. Maximal enantioselectivity of **164** (ee=93-97(*R*)) is achieved at L*/Ru=2.5-6. It is conceivable that the catalytic system attains the Ru/1.5L* or Ru/*n*L* structure, which has probably lost C_2 symmetry.

Entry	Ligand	Symmetry	ee [%] (config. of	Ref.
	(complexes)		1-phenylethanol)	
1	(S,S)- 122	C_2	24(<i>R</i>)	115
2 ^a	(S,S)- 135	C_1	98(S)	127a
			97(S)	128
3	(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)- 135	C_1	99(<i>R</i>)	127a
			90(<i>R</i>)	120
4	145	C_1	94(S)	129
5	146	C_1	96(S)	130
6	147	C_1	91(S)	129
7	148	C_1	96(S)	131
8	(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)- 136	C_1	97(<i>R</i>)	121
9 ^b	149	C_1	88(<i>R</i>)	129
10	150	C_1	94(S)	131
11	151	C_1	95(<i>R</i>)	132
12	152	C_1	83(S)	133
13	153	C_1	92(S)	134
14	154	C_1	72(S)	135
15	155	C_1	91(S)	136
16	156	C_1	94(S)	137
17	157	C_1	72(<i>R</i>)	138
18	27	C_1	94(<i>R</i>)	139
19	158	C_1	94(S)	140
20	159	C_1	82(<i>R</i>)	141a
21	160	C_1	83(<i>R</i>)	141b
22	Ru(161)	C_1	95(<i>R</i>)	142a,b
23 [°]	RuCl((<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)-135)	C_1	>99(R)	143
23	Ru(162)	C_1	89(<i>R</i>)	146

Hydrogen transfer hydrogenation of acetophenone on Ru complexes with

^a Reaction 9 on Ru complexes with analogous C_1 -symmetric chiral ligands (ee=97-99%), see Ref. 127b.

^b Similar C_1 -symmetric chiral ligands of Ru complexes as catalysts of this reaction (ee=89-96%), see Ref. 129.

^c Reaction 9 on Ru complexes with analogous (ee=96%) or similar (ee=94–99%) C_1 -ligands, see Ref. 144,145.



Thus, the experimental data point to the fact that rhodium, iridium and ruthenium complexes with chiral C_2 - and C_1 -symmetric bidentate ligands are differentiated by an enantioselectivity degree in reaction 9. Complexes with asymmetric ligands achieve this reaction with higher ee values of the product. The high enantioselectivity of reaction 9 over ruthenium complexes with tetradentate C_2 -symmetric ligand **168** seems to be in conflict with this conclusion.^{148,149}



X-ray data¹⁴⁸ show that the molecular structure of RuCl₂(**167**) has approximate C_2 symmetry, whereas RuCl₂(**168**) has a more distorted C_2 geometry, due to the 'propeller' position of the *P*,*N*-phenyl rings. However, the C_2 symmetry distortion is probably not the main reason for the relatively higher enantioselectivity of RuCl₂(**168**). The RuCl₂((*R*)-**13**)((*R*,*R*)-**65**) complex as the catalyst of reaction 9 has a similarity with RuCl₂(**168**) (in dentate groups of ligands):^{150,151}



RuCl₂((R)-13)((R,R)-65), 83(S)^{150,151}

Different versions of this system^{151–158} have also been investigated in this reaction. The asymmetric induction step involves a simultaneous transfer of apical hydride at the Ru atom of *trans*-RuH(Cl)(diphosphine) (diamine) and a proton of the RNH₂ ligand to the carbonyl group via a six-membered transition state.¹⁵⁹ This step includes a monohydride intermediate that has lost its C_2 symmetry axis of the starting complex. An analogous mechanism exists probably in the event of Rh(**168**) as a catalyst of reaction 9 (Rh(**167**), ee=40(*S*),¹⁴⁹



 $\begin{array}{l} \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{TMS}, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{H}, \, \mathsf{RuCl}_2 \, ((R)\textbf{-169})((R,R)\textbf{-170}), \, 99.8(\mathsf{S}), ^{152b} \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{Me}, \, \mathsf{RuCl}_2 \, ((R)\textbf{-171})((R,R)\textbf{-170}), \, 99.6(\mathsf{S}), ^{152b} \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{Ph}, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{CI}, \, \mathsf{RuCl}_2 \, ((R)\textbf{-172})((R,R)\textbf{-170}), \, 89.9(\mathsf{S}), ^{152b} \\ \end{array}$



 $\begin{array}{l} \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{TMS}, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{H}, \, \mathsf{RuCl}_2 \, ((R)\text{-169})((R,R)\text{-65}), 98.4(S)^{152b} \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{Me}, \, \mathsf{RuCl}_2 \, ((R)\text{-171})((R,R)\text{-65}), 98.5(S)^{152b} \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{Ph}, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{CI}, \, \mathsf{RuCl}_2 \, ((R)\text{-172})((R,R)\text{-65}), 87.9(S)^{152b} \\ \end{array}$

Rh(168), ee=89(S)¹⁴⁹). It is of interest that systems of this type show a small negative leap in the product ee values at the transition from the complex with C_2 -ligands 169–172 and C_1 -ligand 170 to the corresponding C_2 -symmetric complex with C_2 -ligand ligand 65 in reaction 9:^{152b}

The Rh(120)-type complexes have a stable metallacycle structure with the stereogenic nitrogen atom, according to DFT calculations.¹¹⁰ For example, structures A and B are possible in the case of Rh((R,R)-120):



Formation of the above-mentioned six-membered transition state is possible over the NH-RhH bond (*proS* (or *proR*) of $R^1R^2C=O$ position) of A and equally under this bond (*proS* (or *proR*)) in complex B. In the case of the Rh(**65**, **126** or **128**)type complexes, an additional two *proR* (or *proS*) of the carbonyl position are possible. Therefore, the enantioselectivity of the reaction on the Rh(**120**) complex will be higher than over Rh(**65**, **126** or **128**)-type complexes in accordance with the experimental data (Table 4). The enantioselectivity of the reactions on complexes with C_2 -symmetric ligands of the **120–131** type should not be high, because of a possibility of the cis-position of bulky substituents. This is in accordance with the experimental data (Table 4).

The above-mentioned mechanism takes place, if asymmetric induction proceeds during the substrate coordination with the catalyst.

Indeed, we have found experimental evidence, 6a,118 that asymmetric induction in reaction 9 occurs during the substrate coordination by a hydride complex. There is an enantioselectivity decrease in reaction 9 on rhodium and iridium complexes of the Rh(131) type in a series of ketones as substrates:



In this series the difference between molecular volumes of the substituents of the carbonyl group of these ketones is reduced. The enantioselectivity drop in this series can be explained as a consequence of decreasing enantiodiscrimination with reduction of these molecular volume difference.

A direct proportion of these parameters can be considered as an argument in favour of the fact that asymmetric induction (chiral recognition) takes place in a direct interaction between a catalytic complex and substrate.

Thus, the enantioselectivity degree of hydrogen transfer hydrogenation of simple aryl alkyl ketones is dependent on the symmetry of these complexes. Complexes with chiral C_1 -symmetric bidentate ligands catalyze this reaction with higher enantioselectivity than chiral C_2 -symmetric complexes. In the case of complexes with C_2 -symmetric tetradentate ligands of the RuCl₂(168) or RuCl₂(13)(65) type, the C_2 symmetry is lost prior to the asymmetric induction step.

5. Hydrogenation of ketopantoyllactone on Rh and Ru complexes

A very high enantioselectivity of hydrogenation of β -functionalized ketones on Ru complexes with C_2 -symmetric ligands is well known.^{160–162} It is believed⁶ that coordination of these substrates by two vacancies of the metal atom is favourable for decreasing symmetry of the intermediate with the C_2 -ligand,



which is responsible for asymmetric induction. It has been supposed that the reaction of this type belongs to the category of reactions, which may give high enantioselectivity in the presence of C_2 auxiliaries. A comparison between the ee values of hydrogenation of β - and α -ketoesters 1-4 on [RuCl(p-cymene) ((R)-13)]Cl (or the $[RuCl_2(C_6H_6)]_2$ -(R)-13 catalytic system) shows that the enantioselectivity is far less in the case of cyclic α -ketoester 4 (ee=92(R), 93(R), 83(R), 56(R), respectively).¹⁶² The cyclic structure of ketopantoyllactone 4 probably prevents a bidentate two-point coordination of these substrates. The enantioselectivity reduction in the hydrogenation of 4 can be explained by the behaviour of this substrate as a simple unfunctionalized ketone. Analogous to reactions 5 (without Ti(O-i-Pr)₄) and 9, an increase of enantioselectivity takes place when passing from C_2 -2, 3, 173, 174 to C_1 -1, 175–180 ligands in the hydrogenation of 4 on [Rh(COD)Cl]₂/L* complexes (Table 6).



CH₂N(Me)PCy₂ 180

Table 6

Hydrogenation of ketopantoyllactone on $[Rh(COD)Cl]_2/L^*$ complexes with C_2 - and C_1 -ligands

Ligand	Symmetry	ee [%] (config. of product)	Ref.
2	C_2	52(<i>R</i>)	163
3	$\overline{C_2}$	45(<i>R</i>)	163
173	$\overline{C_2}$	54(<i>R</i>)	164
174	C_2	46(<i>R</i>)	165
1	C_1	75(<i>R</i>)	163
175	C_1	81(<i>R</i>)	166
176	C_1	92(<i>R</i>)	167
177	C_1	96(<i>R</i>)	168
178	C_1	76(<i>R</i>)	169
179	C_1	89(S)	170
180	C_1	80(<i>S</i>)	170

It can see from this table that there is a quantitative leap in enantioselectivity of the reaction on these complexes on changing from C_2 - to C_1 -ligands.

6. Hydrogenation of acetophenone and unfunctionalized arylalkenes on Rh, Ir, Ti, Zr and Sm complexes

Unfunctionalized olefins and ketones have not been studied in hydrogenation on rhodium complexes with modern ligands 4-20 that show very high enantioselectivity in hydrogenation of functionalized alkenes. There are few hydrogenation reactions of these substrates (1-3) on Rh complexes with C_2 -bis(diphenyl)phosphine ligands that are characterized by relatively low ee values of the products (Table 7).



As seen from the table, a positive leap in enantioselectivity takes place at the transition from C_2 -(2, 183, 184) to C_1 -(185–188) ligands of Rh and Ir complexes in hydrogenation of

Table 7
Hydrogenation of ketones, unfunctionalized olefins and imines on rhodium and iridium complexes with chiral ligand

Ligand L	S	ymmetry	Complex		Substrate	ee [%]	Ref.
181	С	2	[RhCl(1.5-hexadiene)] ₂ /L		1	22(<i>R</i>)	171
(S,S- 2)	C	2	[Rh(NBD)(L	.)]ClO ₄	1	3(S)	172
(<i>S</i> , <i>S</i> - 2)	C	2	[Rh(NBD)(L	Δ]ClO ₄	1	8(<i>R</i>)	173
(<i>S</i> , <i>S</i> - 2)	C	2	[RhCl(hexad	iene)]2/L	1	38(<i>R</i>)	174
(R,R)-2	C	2	[RhCl(hexad	iene)] ₂ /L	2	24(S)	171
182	C	2	[RhCl(hexad	iene)]2/L	2	33(<i>R</i>)	175
183	C	2	[RhCl(NBD)] ₂ /L	5	4(R)	176
(S, S-2)	C	2	[RhCl(NBD)] ₂ /L		5	3(S)	176
184	C	2	[RhCl(NBD)] ₂ /L	5	5(S)	176
185	C	-	[RhCl(NBD)] ₂ /L	5	64(R)	176
186	C	1	[RhCl(NBD)] ₂ /L	5	66(S)	176
187	C	1	[RhCl(NBD)] ₂ /L	5	72(S)	176
188	C	1	[IrCl(COD)]	2/L	4	84(<i>S</i>)	177
	Me	Ęt	Me	Ме	Me	Ме	
	PhO	Ph	Ph	Ph N ^{Ph}	Ph N Bn	4-FC ₆ H ₄ Me	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	

Ph

imines *4* and *5*. A high enantioselectivity hydrogenation of unfunctionalized olefin *3* occurs in the presence of the iridium complex with C_1 -symmetric *P*,*N*-ligands:^{178–191}

The ee values of the product of E-1,2-diphenylpropene hydrogenation on $[Ir(L^*)(COD)]^+$ complexes are given below the corresponding ligands. A majority of these values fall within the range of 95–99% ee. Since C_2 -bis(diphenyl)phosphine bidentate ligands **2**, **181** and **182** strongly differ in structure











204: R^1 = Adamantyl, $R^2 = C_6 H_3 (i-Pr)_2 -2,6, 98(S)^{190}$









202: R = *o*-Tol, 99(*R*)^{179b} **203**: R = Cyclohexyl, $99(R)^{179b}$



205: $R = C_6H_4Me-p$, 99(R)¹⁹¹

and electronic effects from C_1 -*P*,*N*- and *N*,*N*-ligands **189**–**205**, the increase of the ee values of hydrogenation of *3* versus 2 (Table 7) is a necessary, but not sufficient, argument in favour of the assumption that hydrogenation of unfunctionalized olefins is highly enantioselective in the presence of C_1 -symmetric chiral auxiliaries, and much higher than that on C_2 -symmetric chiral additives. Hydrogenation of unfunctionalized C=C, C=O and C=N substrates proceeds with lower enantioselectivity on C_2 -bis(diphenyl)phosphine rhodium complexes in comparison with functionalized substrates over the same catalysts.^{6c} It is assumed that all these regular trends originate from the structure of the intermediate complexes that controls the asymmetric induction step. The equilibrium A \rightleftharpoons B has been identified spectroscopically in the case of reaction 1 on complexes of the Rh(**5**) type.¹⁹²



The arrangement of the atoms closely surrounding the metal atom in structures A and B is enantiomerical. A reaction through these dihydride intermediates may result in different product configurations. Functionalized substrates, which are coordinated by two points in a bidentate manner in the intermediates, are likely to have more limited degrees of freedom in choosing between A and B as compared to unfunctionalized substrates. This situation takes place in reaction 1 and in the hydrogenation of β -functionalized ketones.^{160–162} Consequently, the reaction enantioselectivity in this case should be higher, as prompted by the experimental observation.

In hydrogenation on complexes with C_1 -symmetric ligands, the equilibrium between A and B may shift to A to a greater



extent than in the case of complexes with C_2 -ligands. This brings about an enantioselectivity rise if unidentate coordinated unfunctionalized olefins, imines and ketones are involved in hydrogenation, in line with the experimental data.

Asymmetric hydrogenation of acyclic aromatic *N*-arylimines on the Ir complex with the C_1 -ligand (ee \cong 90%)¹⁹³ reinforces this viewpoint.

Titanocene and zirconocene are widely used as hydrogenation catalysts upon activation with PhSiH₃, *n*-BuLi, etc.¹⁹⁴ The following complexes with the ligands **206–210** have been applied as precursors of chiral catalysts:

The intermediate complexes of olefin hydrogenation and hydrosilylation¹⁹⁵ on titanocene and zirconocene have been identified as hydrides and hydride dimers A–F (Scheme 4).^{196–200}



Experimental data on the hydrogenation of unfunctionalized olefins and imines on Ti, Zr and Sm Cp-complexes are summarized in Table 8. As evident from the table, high enantio-selectivity is observed where the reactions run only through the C_1 -symmetric intermediate. The low enantioselectivity of the reaction on complexes of the C_2 - $(\eta^5-((-)menthyl)Cp)_2TiCl_2$ and $C_1-(\eta^5-((-)menthyl)Cp))((\eta^5-Cp)TiCl_2 type (ee= ~ 10\%)^{208}$ can be explained by a missing Cp–Cp bridge in the complex structure. This bridge fixes a rigid arrangement of chiral substituents with respect to the metal atom (reaction centre) as, for example, in the Sm(**206**) complex. An analogous function in the highly enantioselective reaction on the Ti(**208**) complex might be performed by a counter position of the Ph groups that prevents the Cp-group rotation.

Thus, the enantioselectivity increase in the hydrogenation of unfunctionalized olefins, imines and ketones is observed during the movement from C_2 - to C_1 -symmetric ligands of Rh and Ir complexes. For Ti, Zr and Sm Cp-complexes, as catalysts, a more enantioselective reaction takes place in the case of C_1 symmetric (asymmetric) intermediate complexes controlling the asymmetric induction step. Hydrogenation of unfunctionalized olefins and imines on titanocene-type complexes belongs to the reactions which are independent of C_2-C_1 symmetry of chiral catalyst precursors. In these reactions, a C_2 symmetry loss occurs at the stage prior to the asymmetric induction step. If the intermediate which controls asymmetric induction retains C_2 symmetry of C_2 chiral auxiliaries, the enantioselectivity will be low.

Therefore, hydrogenation of unfunctionalized substrates proceeds by different mechanisms, depending on the Rh or Cp-Ti groups of the catalysts.

Table 8									
Hydrogena	tion of unfunctionalized	l olefins and im	ines on Ti,	Zr, Sm	complexes w	ith chiral	C_1 - and	C ₂ -symmetric	ligands

Catalytic system	Intermediate controlling the asy	ee [%] (config. of product)	Ref.			
	Possible structure	Symmetry	Ref.	Substrate		
$[Ti(207)]+284[(Al(Me)-O)_n]$	А	C_2	196	2	36(S)	201
Sm(206)	1/2 B or 1/2 C	$\overline{C_1}$	197-199	2	96(S)	202
[Ti(207)]+2[<i>n</i> -BuLi]+2.5[PhSiH ₃]	1/2 B, 1/2 C, 1/2 D or 1/2 E	C_1	197-199	3	>99(R)	203
[Ti(208)]+[<i>n</i> -BuLi]	1/2 B or 1/2 C	C_1	197, 198	2	68-95(S)	204
$[Zr(209)] + [PhMe_2NH]^+ [B(C_6F_5)_4]^-$	F	C_1	200	6	96(S)	205
[Ti(207)]+2[<i>n</i> -BuLi]+2.5[PhSiH ₃]	1/2 B, 1/2 C, 1/2 D or 1/2 E	C_1	197-199	5	77 - 85(R)	206
[Ti(210)]+2[<i>n</i> -BuLi]	1/2 B or 1/2 C	C_1	197, 199	5	76(<i>S</i>)	207

7. Hydroformylation of styrene over Rh and Ir complexes

Hydroformylation of olefins on chiral metal complexes is an example of a well-studied reaction²⁰⁹ with a view to its commercial applications.^{209b,210} Among the most extensively investigated reactions is styrene hydroformylation:



A list of chiral C_2 -symmetric ligands **2**, **13**, **211–234** in rhodium and platinum complexes as catalysts of reaction 10 is given below, along with the product ee (configuration):^{209a-c,209g,211–226}

Low ee values have attracted our attention in reaction 10 on rhodium complexes with chiral C_2 -symmetric bis-

(diphenyl)phosphine ligands 2, 13, 116 and 211–213. The enantioselectivity of the platinum complexes is relatively higher. Bulky cyclic fragments at the phosphorus atoms in the ligands 214–224 contribute to the enantioselectivity increase. Nevertheless, the ee values of the reaction on the most complexes, for example, with C_2 -ligands 225–234 are rather low. Strange as it may seem, the complex Rh/232 catalyzes reaction 10 with zero enantioselectivity. Chiral C_2 -symmetric ligand 232 includes conformationally rigid bicyclic systems at the phosphorus donor atoms. The rhodium complex with this ligand is probably the most rigorous C_2 -symmetric complex mentioned above.

A quantitative enantioselectivity leap is observed at the transfer to the asymmetric complexes with C_1 -ligands **235–247** acting as catalysts. The corresponding ligands and ee values of reaction 10 product are listed below:^{209a,227–235}









228, Rh, 37(S)²²³



230: R = H, Rh, 7–11(S)²²⁴ **231**: R = Me, Rh, 2–5(S)²²⁴



233, Rh, 46(S)226

 $\begin{array}{l} (2R,4R), (R/S)_{\rm ax}\text{-}\mathbf{222}; \ R = Me, \ Rh, \ 21-47(S)^{220} \\ (2R,4R), (R)_{\rm ax}\text{-}\mathbf{222}; \ R = Me, \ Rh, \ 38(S)^{209a} \\ (2R,4R), (S)_{\rm ax}\text{-}\mathbf{222}; \ R = Me, \ Rh, \ 69-86(S)^{209a} \\ (2S,4S), (R)_{\rm ax}\text{-}\mathbf{222}; \ R = Me, \ Rh, \ 23(S)^{209a} \\ (2S,4S), (S)_{\rm ax}\text{-}\mathbf{222}; \ R = Me, \ Rh, \ 40(R)^{209a} \\ (2R,4R), (R/S)_{\rm ax}\text{-}\mathbf{223}; \ R = \text{Et}, \ Rh, \ 20-28(S)^{220} \end{array}$



(R_{ax})-**225**, Pt, 23(R)²²² (S_{ax})-**225**, Rh, 20(S)²²²





229, Rh, 19(*R*)²²³



232, Rh, ee = 0%²²⁵



234, Rh, 50(S)²²⁶



A mechanism for reaction 10 on rhodium complexes with diphosphine ligands^{210a,227} proposed recently is based on an equilibrium of two pairs of diastereomeric intermediates²³⁶ in the trigonal bipyramidal form:

These intermediates are introduced into 'major' and 'minor' catalytic cycles and are responsible for the asymmetric induction. If reaction 10 proceeds in the presence of chiral C_2 -symmetric complexes and the equilibrium between intermediates A and B is established rather rapidly, $A^{maj} = A^{min}$ and $[A^{maj}] \approx [A^{min}]$, the product would have a low ee value. Chiral C_1 -symmetric (asymmetric) complexes catalyze the reaction with higher enantioselectivity than chiral C_2 -symmetric complexes, because of $A^{maj} \neq A^{min}$ and $[A^{maj}] \neq [A^{min}]$. Thus, a dependence of the product ee values on the symmetry of the complexes acting as catalysts is observed in the

hydroformylation of olefins on diphosphine complexes of rhodium.



1165

8. Conjugate addition of diethylzinc to chalcones on Cu and Ni complexes

Conjugate addition of dialkylzinc to α , β -unsaturated prochiral enones is an efficient and reliable method for the synthesis of optically active β -substituted carbonyl compounds.²³⁷ Chalcones are suitable substrates for this reaction.



The use of C_2 -symmetric ligands in reaction 11 leads to contradictory results.^{85,237b,238–244}

On the one hand, complexes with C_2 -bidentate ligands 7, **248** and tetradentate ligand **67** afford a very small enantioselectivity in reaction 11 and, on the other hand, complexes



Cu(OTf)₂/267, 93(S)²⁵⁴ (benzylideneacetone)

Ot-Bu

with C_2 -249, 253 lead to moderate ee value of the product in this reaction. The product ee values and configurations in the reaction on complexes with C_2 -bidentate 250 or C_2 -tetradentate 254 ligands actually coincide with the enantioselectivity data for this reaction over complexes with corresponding C_1 fragments (251, 252 or 255). This implies that bidentate and tetradentate C_2 -symmetric ligands are most probably involved in the reaction by their C_1 -symmetric fragments. Thus, the complexes with C_2 -ligands catalyze this reaction with enantioselectivities in the range from 0 to 70% ee.

In parallel with C_1 -**255**, the best results have been achieved where C_1 chiral auxiliaries were used:^{245–254} It can be assumed that the structure of the important intermediate complex^{243b} of reaction 11 on Ni(acac)₂ complexes and C_1 -ligands of the type **255–267** should be C_1 -symmetric.



There are grounds for assuming that this intermediate is involved in the reaction at the asymmetric induction stage. In the case of C_2 -symmetric ligands of the type 7, the structure of the intermediate is C_2 -symmetric. As concerns the above-mentioned reactions, if the intermediate responsible for asymmetric induction retains the symmetry of the starting ligands, this reaction gives better results with C_1 auxiliaries. This assumption reflects exactly the experimental data for reaction 11.

 α -Ketoolefin chalcones as well as α -ketoether ketopantoyllactones drop out of the unfunctionalized aldehydes, ketones and olefins as substrates of the above-mentioned reactions. It seems likely that α -functionalized olefins and ketones of the chalcone and ketopantoyllactone types along with unfunctionalized substrates are coordinated only by a single vacancy of the metal atom in the intermediate complex.

9. Other catalytic and stoichiometric reactions with the participation of metal complexes

In reaction 12 of acetophenone reduction by borane addition of Al(O-*i*-Pr)₃ to the reaction mixture containing chiral C_2 -symmetric atropoisomeric ligands²⁵⁵ (Table 9) leads to an enantio-selectivity rise. This behaviour is reminiscent of the diethylzinc addition to benzaldehyde on chiral C_2 -symmetric ligands, both without Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄ and in its presence (Table 3).

$$\begin{array}{c} O \\ Ph \end{array} + BH_3 \cdot SMe_2 \xrightarrow{\text{Ligand */Al(O-i-Pr)_3} \\ CH_2Cl_2 \end{array} + Me_3} OH \\ (12)$$

Therefore, this phenomenon could be explained in a similar way. In all likelihood, the reaction mixture incorporating borane, the C_2 -symmetric ligand and Al(O-*i*-Pr)₃ forms an 'in situ' asymmetric complex, which is catalytically active and responsible for the asymmetric induction.

Table 9

Asymmetric acetophenone reduction by borane in the presence of chiral C_2 -symmetric ligands and Al(O-*i*-Pr)₃ (CH₂Cl₂, rt)²⁵⁵

Entry	Ligands	Reaction systems				
		PhCOMe/BH ₃ ·SMe ₂ /ligand		PhCOMe/BH ₃ ·SMe ₂ /ligand/ Al(O- <i>i</i> -Pr) ₃		
		Yield [%]	ee [%] (config. of product)	Yield [%]	ee [%] (config. of product)	
1	(R)- 35	78	0	97	60(S)	
2	268	90	0	94	46(<i>R</i>)	
3	62	96	0	98	0	
4	269	93	0	97	10(<i>R</i>)	
5	36	91	0	95	71(S)	
F	₹ ¹	R ¹				



The symmetry of the chiral catalysts is of considerable importance in the enantioselective oxidation of thioanisole with hydroperoxides.

$$\begin{array}{c} & & \\ \mathsf{Ph}^{\mathsf{S}} & & \\ & \mathsf{Me} & \xrightarrow{\mathsf{ML}^{\star} \text{ or } \mathsf{M/L}^{\star}} \\ & & \mathsf{Ph}^{\mathsf{S}} & \\ & & \mathsf{Ne} \end{array}$$
(13)

As evident from Table 10, the complexes with C_1 -symmetric chiral ligands 274–276 are much more effective in reaction 13 than the C_2 auxiliaries 270–273 of similar structure.

An amazing example of the ee sensitivity of a catalytic reaction to chiral ligand symmetry can be seen in the sulfide oxidation reaction 14 of an analogous sulfide on $Ti(O-i-Pr)_4/L^*$ complexes:

$$p-\text{Tol} \xrightarrow{S}_{\text{Me}} \frac{\text{Ti}(\text{O-i-Pr})_4 / \text{L}^*}{\text{ROOH}} \xrightarrow{\rho}_{p-\text{Tol}} \xrightarrow{S}_{\text{Me}}^*$$
(14)

Table 11 sets out the reaction results with regard to the structure of chiral diols as ligands. Comparing the conformational rigidity of the complexes with these ligands, it should be possible to trace a rough row of possible divergences from ideal C_2 symmetry: Ti/277<Ti/278 \ll Ti/279 \approx Ti/280 \approx Ti/61. The complexes with the latter three ligands have maximal divergences from ideal C_2 symmetry in this row, due to possible rotation of COOEt, *t*-Bu and Ph groups at the asymmetric carbon atoms of the ligands around the C*-C bond. As seen from the table, this row coincides with the row of ee values of the product of reaction 14 on the complexes with these ligands. Hence, these reaction parameters are directly proportional: the greater divergences from ideal C_2 symmetry, the higher the enantioselectivity values. V.A. Pavlov / Tetrahedron 64 (2008) 1147-1179

Table 10 Asymmetric oxidation of thioanisole with hydroperoxides on chiral metal complexes

Ligand (L*)	Symmetry	Complex (ML* or M/L*)	Solvent, T (°C)	Hydroperoxide	ee [%] (config. of product)	Ref.
270	C_2	TiO(270)	$CH_2Cl_2, 2$	H_2O_2	3(S)	256
271	$\overline{C_2}$	(TiCl) ₂ O((<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)- 271)	$CH_2Cl_2, 0$	t-BuOOH	8(<i>R</i>)	257
272	C_2	VO((<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)- 272)	$CH_2Cl_2, 0$	t-BuOOH	16(S)	258
273	C_2	MnCl((<i>S</i> , <i>S</i>)- 273)	CH ₃ CN, rt	H_2O_2	14(S)	259
274	C_1	VO(274)	$CH_2Cl_2, 0$	30% H ₂ O ₂	91(S)	260
275	C_1	VO(acac) ₂ /275	CHCl ₃ , rt	H_2O_2	96.7(<i>R</i>)	261
276	C_1	VO(acac) ₂ /276	$CH_2Cl_2, 0$	H_2O_2	86(<i>S</i>)	262





274 M=VO

Table 11 Enantioselectivity-ligand structure dependence of aryl Me-S-p-tolyl oxidation

275

Entry	Ligand (L*)	Reaction mixture, solvent and temperature	Hydroperoxide	ee [%] (config. of product)	Ref.
1	277	Ti(O- <i>i</i> -Pr) ₄ /L*, MS 4 Å, Tol., -20 °C	p-C ₃ H ₇ C ₆ H ₄ OOH	0	263
2 ^a	278	Ti(O- <i>i</i> -Pr) ₄ /L*, MS 4 Å, Tol., -20 °C	$p-C_3H_7C_6H_4OOH$	$14^{\rm a}$	263
3	279	Ti(O- <i>i</i> -Pr) ₄ /L*/ <i>i</i> -PrOH, MS 4 Å, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , -20 °C	p-C ₃ H ₇ C ₆ H ₄ OOH	95.6(<i>R</i>)	264
4	279	Ti(O- <i>i</i> -Pr) ₄ /L*/H ₂ O, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , -20 °C	t-BuOOH	91(<i>R</i>)	265
5	279	$Ti(O-i-Pr)_4/L^*$, $ClCH_2CH_2Cl$, -20 °C	t-BuOOH	88.3(<i>R</i>)	266
6	279	$Ti(O-i-Pr)_4/L^*$, CH_2Cl_2 , $-20 \ ^{\circ}C$	Me CH(-(CH ₂) ₅ -CH ₃)OOH	89(<i>R</i>)	267
7	280	Ti(O- <i>i</i> -Pr)₄/L*, MS 4 Å, Tol., −20 °C	p-C ₃ H ₇ C ₆ H ₄ OOH	95(S)	268
8	61	Ti(O- <i>i</i> -Pr) ₄ /L*, CCl ₄ , 0 °C	t-BuOOH	>99(S)	269
		Me Me HO ÖH HO ÖH	COOEt tBu tBu OH HO OH H	Ph Ph HO OH	
		277 278	279 280	61	

276

^a Configuration not indicated.

Finally, an additional set of experimental data facilitate a possible explanation of the enantioselectivity increase due to the C_2 symmetry loss by the intermediate responsible for asymmetric induction of the reaction in the presence of chiral C_2 -symmetric complexes. A large number of experimental observations indicate that the reaction enantioselectivity increases after the addition of achiral ligands or co-catalysts to the reaction mixtures (see review in Ref. 270). A typical example is the reaction of aldehyde cyanosilylation^{271a} 15 in the presence of chiral Lewis acids as catalysts.

This reaction proceeds with a rather high enantioselectivity in the presence of the achiral ligand $Bu_3P(O)$:



It has been shown that this reaction passes through an intermediate with a trigonal bipyramidal structure.^{272,273}



In contrast to the reaction without any additional achiral ligand, the intermediate in the presence of this additive loses the C_2 axis symmetry observed in the first intermediate. Hence, the enantioselectivity value increase may be explained by a decrease of intermediate symmetry from the C_2 - to C_1 -axis. From publications not included in the review,²⁷⁰ worth mentioning are a similar effect of achiral ligand addition in the reduction of ketones by chiral diol-modified lithium aluminium hydride reagents^{271b} and the Mannich reaction.²⁷⁴ A somewhat less strong effect of achiral ligand addition can be seen in allylic alkylation,²⁷⁵ epoxidation,^{276,277} cyclopropanation,²⁷⁸ cyanosilylation²⁷⁹ and some other reactions on metal complexes.²⁸⁰

Numerous examples of using molecular sieves (MS 4 Å) are known to be a factor that increases the enantioselectivity of catalytic reactions in the presence of chiral C_2 -symmetric metal complexes (see more recent publications, e.g., Refs. 281–284). This effect can also be explained by a loss of C_2 symmetry of the intermediate responsible for asymmetric induction in the reaction under the action of a chiral C_2 -symmetric complex. Indeed, it is common for metal complexes of this type to be adsorbed by apical vacancies on the surface of chemosorbents. In this case, the C_2 symmetry axis of a catalytic complex is failing. As a result of adsorption, the intermediate complex on the adsorbent surface is asymmetric.

Mikami and Matsukawa²⁸⁵ have proposed an alternative explanation for the enantioselectivity increase of the reactions under the action of catalytic complexes formed in situ with chiral C_2 -symmetric ligands as a result of the addition of ancillary ligands. Sometimes, the effect of ancillary ligand addition is so high that the product configuration may change.²⁸⁶

The abnormally low effectiveness of chiral C_2 -symmetric auxiliaries is not limited only by catalytic reactions. For example, we^{287,288} and other researchers^{289–291} observed an abnormally low enantioselectivity of acetophenone reduction by chiral dihydrides produced from lithium aluminium hydride⁸ and atropoisomeric ligands (Li(H_n^{*}_{\chi} H_n)AlH₂) listed below:^{271,287,289–292}



As the AlH₄⁻ anion in LiAlH₄ has an ideal tetrahedral structure, dihydride particles on the basis of ligands of the **35**, **128**, **282–285** type are chiral C_2 -symmetric. The C_2 symmetry is also very close to perfect in this case. The Et group introduction to ligand **128** increases possible divergences from an ideal C_2 symmetry, as can be seen in dihydride Li(**283**)AlH₂, compared to dihydrides based on ligands **35**, **128**, **282** and **284**. This change in the C_2 symmetry quality is accompanied by the enantioselectivity increasing. The same explanation of ee increasing is also valid in the case of Li(**285**)AlH₂. The C_2 symmetry of this dihydride is not perfect because of four Ph groups, which can rotate around the C–C_{Ph} bond. Consequently, the explanation of the influence of the chiral auxiliary symmetry on the enantioselectivity of catalytic reactions is also valid in the case of stoichiometric reactions.

As with pure LiAlH₄ and NaAlH₄, dihydrides modified by diols react with ketones in THF or diglyme as contact and solvent-separated ion pairs.²⁹³

$$\left\| \begin{array}{c} & & \\ &$$

[§] Noyori and co-workers²⁸⁹ supposed that the disproportionation of Li(BINOL)AIH₂ into LiAlH₄ and LiAl(BINOL)₂ is the reason for the low enantioselectivity of ketone reduction by this dihydride, yet this idea has not been supported by experiment. It has been shown by us²⁸⁷ that this disproportionation does not proceed under the discussed reaction conditions.

Given a lower strength of the hydride bond with Na⁺ cations compared to that of Li⁺ cations, it is believed that the bridge cycle is more rigid in the case of Li. Therefore, C_2 symmetry is closer to perfect in lithium than in sodium dihydride. In turn, a cycle formed by the ligand is more rigid in monohydride based on AlH₃ than on NaAlH₄. Thus, C_2 symmetry of the monohydride based on AlH₃ is much closer to perfect. In terms of these correlations, hydrides can be arranged in rows based on divergences from ideal C_2 symmetry (ligand **286** is an analogue of **285**, Ar=C₆H₄OMe-4) (Table 12).

Table 12

Enantioselective reduction by chiral aluminium hydrides^{287,288}

Substrate	Complex with aluminium hydride	Cation	ee [%] (config of product)
PhCOMe		Na Li	38(S) 0
PhCMe NP(O)Ph ₂		Na Li	78(<i>R</i>) 30(<i>R</i>)
PhCO-i-Pr	$\left[286 \begin{smallmatrix} O \\ O \end{smallmatrix} \right] A \begin{bmatrix} H \\ H \end{bmatrix}$	Na	73(<i>S</i>)
PhCO-i-Pr	286 O AI-H	—	7(S)
PhCO-i-Pr		Na	76(<i>R</i>)
PhCO-i-Pr	285 0 AI-H	_	36(<i>R</i>)

As evident from the table, the product ee values are consistent with this series: the less perfect C_2 symmetry of the complex, the higher the ee value.

The relationship between the reaction enantioselectivity and the C_1 , C_2 symmetry of a chiral catalyst is not limited to catalytic and stoichiometric reactions with the participation of metal complexes. This effect becomes apparent on some reactions over chiral organocatalysts. For example, Lewis-basic C_1 and C_2 chiral *N*-oxides **287** and **288** have different enantioselectivity as catalysts in the allylation of aldehydes:²⁹⁴



It can be seen that the C_1 and C_2 symmetry of the chiral organocatalysts strongly affects the ee values of reaction 16 product.

The results of acetophenone reduction by chiral C_2 - and C_1 boronic esters or organoboranes can be interpreted analogously (Table 13).



Indeed, the transition from C_2 **289–291** to C_1 **292–296** chiral auxiliaries leads to a positive leap in enantioselectivity.

The influence of C_2-C_1 symmetry of chiral auxiliaries on enantioselectivity in a stoichiometric reaction of the abovementioned types is evidence in favour of an assumption that this effect is not confined to catalytic reactions or reactions involving metal complexes. It seems that this effect could be explained on the basis of the symmetry of intermediate complexes responsible for asymmetric induction.

Table 13 Reduction of acetophenone with chiral $C_{2^{-}}$ and $C_{1^{-}}$ boronic esters and organoboranes

Dof
Kei.
295
296
297
297
298
299
300
301

10. C₂, C₁ Configurational models

The enantioselectivity is provided by the spatial fixation of bulky groups of the ligand nearest to the donor atoms forming the metal atom chiral environment. In other words, the ligand molecule within a catalytic complex plays the role of a template. There is a good reason to believe that the reaction enantioselectivity depends on real coordinates of ligand substituents and their chiral array around the metal atom of a complex as catalysts. For example, ligands 297-302 have a chiral centre in the *N*-ring that can rotate around the C–N bond. Only two ligands (299 and 302) include substituents preventing free rotation. It is exactly these ligands of Pd complexes that cause a sharp increase in enantioselectivity of reaction 3. The product gains high ee values if a stable and rigid position of the chiral centre in the ligands 299 and 302 is ensured.^{302,303}



Thus, it is only possible to predict both the product configuration and ee values if precise spatial coordinates of bulky groups that form the metal atom chiral environment under the reaction conditions are known. An attempt has been made to forecast enantioselectivity parameters on the basis of a configurational model of the complex location in the quadrant volume³⁰⁴ (Scheme 5).



The regions determining complex chirality are marked with indices Pr (plus region) and Mr (minus region); the reaction

product configuration depends on the region Pr or Mr where the ligand fragments fall. This model has found experimental support in the Mr-(R) and Pr-(S) dependence observed in allylic alkylation of 1,3-diphenylprop-2-enyl acetate by the diethyl malonate anion on palladium complexes with iminophosphine, diphosphine and diamine ligands.^{304a}

The space in front of and behind the metal atom has not been differentiated in this model (see Scheme 5). This constrains the Pr/Mr model, because the Pr (or Mr) space in front of and behind the metal atom has a different chirality sign.^{6a} The octant projection with the metal atom in the centre and with different signs of the front and back octants is devoid of this limitation^{6a} (Scheme 6). A comparison of the configurational models Pr/Mr and Pr^{oct}/Mr^{oct} in several reactions demonstrated that the Pr^{oct}/Mr^{oct} model is more appropriate for the experimentally determined enantioselectivity of some reactions.^{6a}



Scheme 6.

Unfortunately, X-ray diffraction data, e.g., of transition metal chelate complexes³⁰⁵ as catalysts of reactions in solutions, can hardly be used as a reliable basis in the construction of quantitative models of the structural elements of the complex—ee and product configuration type. Equalization of the molecular parameters of complexes in the crystal to those in solution is probably unjustified. However, this approach gives positive results when using relative values, such as changes in certain complex parameters due to the presence of ligands with similar structures. Thus, it has been found³⁰⁶ that, in the case of an asymmetric Diels—Alder reaction, where acrylates react with cyclopentadiene in the presence of the Ti-2,2′-biaryldiol complex, a dependence of ee of the *endo*-adduct on the biaryl torsion angle passes through a maximum. A similar

dependence exists between ee and the calculated parameter, chirality content of molecule (CCM), used as a quantitative measure of chirality of the given chiraphore[¶] (in the case of the biaryl fragment).³⁰⁷ Correspondingly, a linear dependence exists between the CCM and dihedral angles. This testifies to the non-linear dependence between CCM and the experimental ee value of the reaction product.³⁰⁷ Most probably, the introduction of the parameter CCM³⁰⁸ opens up a new way for predicting the enantioselectivity magnitude and sign on the basis of calculations.

A majority of quantitative theoretical approaches dealing with asymmetric homogeneous catalytic reactions catalyzed by metal complexes are based on computations that employ different programmes and methods for different reactions and catalysts. The conformity of the calculated parameters with the experimental data is considered to be evidence in favour of the suggested mechanism. Recently, calculations have been carried out for enamide hydrogenation in the presence of the Rh-9 complex,³⁰⁹ for hydrogen transfer hydrogenation of ketones catalyzed by Rh-diamine,^{110,310} Ru–*N*-tosylethylenediamine³¹¹ or Ru-amino alcohol complexes,^{142a,311,312} and for cyclopropanation of styrene on the complex Cu–*N,N*'-dimethylmalonaldiimine,³¹³ etc.

Although the use of the configurational models Pr/Mr or Pr^{oct}/Mr^{oct} is a qualitative approach, it provides a simple tool for predicting the asymmetric induction sign and its interpretation.

It is of note that the interpretation of the effects of metal complexes on enantioselectivity in catalytic reactions using the models Pr^{oct}/Mr^{oct} or Pr/Mr is based on static factors. These effects are steric in nature. An alternative explanation based on dynamic factors also exists. A recently proposed theory^{314,315} of the chiral molecular recognition and induction is based on helical electronic effects in a chiral metallocomplex (catalyst) and coordinating substrate. Handedness matching of the sign of helical polarizability of a chiral catalyst and a coordinating substrate in enantioselective reactions should be implemented.

11. C_2 , C_1 Symmetry of chiral molecules in bioorganic chemistry

As seen from the experimental data review, there are two groups of reactions on metal complexes distinguished by efficiency of C_2 -symmetric chiral auxiliaries. Reactions of the first group proceed with a high enantioselectivity degree in the presence of C_2 chiral ligands. Strange as it may seem, some reactions on metal complexes with C_2 -symmetric chiral ligands are not inferior to bioreactions neither in enantioselectivity nor in conversion. For example, hydrogenation of β ketoesters over a Ru catalyst with C_2 -symmetric atropoisomeric chiral ligands proceeds with 100% conversion and 99.9% ee values of the product.³¹⁶ Bioreduction of this substrate occurs with conversion and enantioselectivity: 91%, 95% ee;³¹⁷ 68%, 99% ee;³¹⁸ 85%, 100% ee,³¹⁹ correspondingly, in the presence of carbonyl reductase of different types. Hence, C_2 -symmetric chiral metal complexes, as catalysts of this reaction, are emulating enzymes. Chiral metal complexes, as catalysts, have some common features with enzymes such as high enantioselectivity, very significant turnover^{||} and covalent interaction between the catalyst and substrate in the transition state.³²⁰ However, nature has selected a way that excludes the use of C_2 -symmetric chiral auxiliaries as ligands (enzyme side chains).** The DNA linear polymer consists of four nucleotides in an irregular sequence as a foundation of the genetic variety. Two DNA molecules form a double helix by H-bonding of complementary nucleotides. Both helices and an α -helix of natural peptides have a *P* configuration. The structures of all helices are asymmetric.³²²

Only L-amino acids are constituents of proteins and only D-nucleotides are incorporated in nucleic acids. Polysaccharides are also built from D-monosaccharides (with rare exceptions). All these substances are C_1 -symmetric chiral (asymmetric). These enantiomers are the same in living systems of the human race, animals, plants and microorganisms.³²³ C₂-Symmetric chiral compounds are extremely rare in nature. The question is whether this natural selection is associated with a difference between C_1 - and C_2 -symmetric chiral auxiliaries in some reactions. The most well known is D-(+)-tartaric acid that represents a by-product of grape juice alcoholic fermentation. A well-known C_2 chiral natural molecule is the alkaloid, (-)-sparteine.³²⁴ There are, at most, $\sim 10-20 C_2$ -symmetric chiral alkaloids from a few thousand alkaloids, many of which are optically active.³²⁵ There are known several C_2 chiral lignans.^{326–328} All these substances are rather by-products than main products of plant metabolism. Sometimes, asymmetric molecules occur in nature with bulky C_2 -symmetric chiral fragments.



An example of such a structure is cupressuflavone glucoside **303** isolated from *Juniperus communis* var. *depressa*.³²⁹ Thus, C_2 -symmetric chiral compounds do not participate in important chemical reactions of life-support systems.

12. C₃ Chiral auxiliaries

It has been reported³³⁰ that chiral recognition in host-guest complexation by C_3 - and D_3 -symmetric receptors, which was

[¶] By analogy with the terms 'chromophore' and 'pharmacophore'.

[■] We¹⁶² have observed that hydrogenation of methyl acetoacetate on the complex [RuCl(η^6 -*p*-cymene)((*R*)-**13**)]Cl occurs with high enantioselectivity and conversion at molar ratio substrate/catalyst 70,000.

^{**} Biomacromolecules carry out enantioselective transformations using even achiral or racemic metal complex catalysts,³²¹ let alone C_2 or C_1 chiral metal catalysts.

examined on Newman projections should be poor or just zero. This may also be the reason why a successful differentiation of enantiomers by D_3 -crown ethers has not been observed until now.^{330,331} The opposite point of view³³² is based on an inspection of the same stereoprojections along the C_3 -axis. However, the problem, as applied to asymmetric catalysis, is not only in the differentiation of the enantiotopic sides of a substrate by a C_3 receptor (catalyst), but also in the stereochemical possibility of a substrate attack along the C_3 -axis. The most prominent examples of successful C_3 -ligands are listed below



(enantioselectivity data are given for the reactions which follow).^{333–339} C₃ Receptors **304–307** and **309–313** have chiral fragments in their side chains, which can be coordinated as mono-, bi- or tridentate chiral ligands. It has been shown by X-ray spectroscopy that the complexes $[Rh(COD)(304)]SbF_6$ and [Rh(CO)(305)]Cl in the crystal have trigonal bipyramidal structures with a C3 symmetry axis along the Rh-CH and N-Rh-CO bonds, respectively.³³³ The former complex has been used as a catalyst precursor for the hydrogenation of methyl (Z)- α -acetamidocinnamate with an ee of the product of 89%. However, a rhodium complex with the C_2 -bidentate R-CH₂-CH₂-R ligand 7, where R is an analogous phosphane cycle, catalyzes the hydrogenation of a similar substrate with ee= 98%.¹⁰ The mechanism of this reaction on Rh/C_2 -ligands has been studied by the groups of Halpern, Brown and Imamoto (see review in Ref. 6b). It has been shown that the metal atom of the catalytic precursors lost C_2 central symmetry in the intermediate complexes responsible for asymmetric induction. Asymmetric induction occurs in the octahedral dihydride intermediate of Rh(III) with a bidentate ligand and enamide as substrate, which is coordinated by two metal atom vacancies. Therefore, the C_3 -ligand can be occupied only by two vacancies of the intermediate. The central metal atom in the important octahedral intermediate loses the C_3 symmetry axis, even though the C_3 -ligand occupies three coordinational vacancies. In this case, asymmetric induction also occurs in the intermediate complex with C_1 symmetry of the central atom. Thus, the above-mentioned experiment cannot be considered as undeniable evidence of the enantioselective action of C_3 auxiliaries in this reaction. Copper complexes with oxazolinyl auxiliaries 306^{334} and 307^{335} are also effective catalysts in the asymmetric reaction of allylic oxidation.

The possibility that C_3 auxiliaries are coordinated in the intermediate complex of this reaction with only two side chains is also high. Indeed, the same copper complex with C_2 -symmetric oxazolinyl ligand 308 catalyzes this reaction with relatively similar ee values. The possibility of C_3 -ligand coordination with two vacancies retains its validity in the reactions listed below. Diethylzinc addition to aromatic aldehydes in the presence of oxazolinyl C_3 -ligands of the type **306**, **307** and **311** occurs with good enantioselectivity (ee up to 90%).³⁴² Prochiral ketone reduction proceeds very enantioselectively on the C_3 borane complex with β -hydroxy amide **309**.³³⁷ Alkynylation of aromatic aldehydes occurs with high enantioselectivity on the $Ti(O-i-Pr)_4/310^{338}$ complex. The side chains of auxiliaries 309 and 310 can be used as chiral bidentate ligands. In this case, there are possibilities of coordination of the side chain alone as the C_1 auxiliary. If the bidentate function of the side chains is lost, as in 311, the reaction enantioselectivity is decreased. For example, enantiomeric recognition of substrates of the α -phenylethylammonium ion type with **311** takes place with small enantioselectivity (up to 71(R):29(S)).³³⁹

Very high enantioselectivity has been achieved in Diels– Alder reactions over borate propeller compound **312**.³⁴⁰ If the side chains lose chirality centres and enantioselectivity is responsible for the chiral C_3 receptor only, as in **313**, rather low ee values of the product of a cross-coupling reaction have been observed.³⁴¹ It seems that the problem of using C_3 receptors needs further investigations from a conceptual point of view.

Strange as it may seem, C_3 -symmetric chiral molecules are encountered in living systems (see review in Ref. 343). However, their functions are limited basically by ion transport. There are synthetic C_3 -symmetric molecules,^{343,344} which mimic biological functions. It is doubtful if these molecules act as true C_3 receptors because of their huge molecular sizes.³⁴⁴

13. Conclusions

In this report, an analysis of the experimental data in the field of asymmetric reactions on C_2 - and C_1 -symmetric chiral metal complexes as catalysts has been undertaken. It may be concluded that the ee values of the reaction products are dependent on the C_1 or C_2 symmetry of the intermediate complexes responsible for asymmetric induction in these reactions. If the intermediate complex responsible for asymmetric induction is chiral, C_1 -symmetric (asymmetric), the reaction can be carried out with a high enantioselectivity level, irrespective of the symmetry of the starting chiral auxiliaries. Among the reactions of this type discussed in the report are hydrogenation of *α*-acetamidocinnamic acid, hydrogenation of unfunctionalized olefins and ketones on Ti, Zr and Sm complexes, hydrosilvlation of acetophenone by diphenylsilane, allylic alkylation of 1,3-diphenyl-2-propenyl acetate by dimethyl malonate sodium salt, cyclopropanation of styrene with α -diazoacetate, hetero-Diels-Alder reactions of Danishefsky's dienes with aldehydes, alkylation of benzaldehydes with diethylzinc in the presence of the Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄ complex and allylation of aldehydes.

If the intermediates responsible for asymmetric induction in the reactions retain the symmetry of the starting chiral auxiliaries, those reactions on complexes with C_1 -ligands have high enantioselectivity, as compared to C_2 -ligands. From the observed catalytic reactions, alkylation of benzaldehyde with diethylzinc (without Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄), hydrogen transfer hydrogenation of acetophenone, hydrogenation of ketopantoyllactone, hydrogenation of acetophenone and unfunctionalized alkenes on Rh and Ir complexes, hydroformylation of styrene, conjugate addition of diethylzinc to chalcone and stoichiometric reactions with the participation of metal complexes fall within the second group.

In evaluating the dependence of the reaction enantioselectivity on the ligand symmetry, it should be taken into account that the differences in structural or electronic factors of the ligands as well as the reaction conditions are superior to C_2 and C_1 symmetry distinctions. Nevertheless, some regular trends can be observed, even with a formal approach to the evaluation of the C_1 and C_2 symmetry influence on enantioselectivity, because this approach is based on a comparison of a great number of diversified ligands in closely parallel circumstances (reactions, metal catalysts, substrates and reaction conditions are identical).

It should also be emphasized that a degree of the C_2 symmetry influence of the starting chiral auxiliaries of the second group reactions on enantioselectivity depends on the symmetry quality. The smaller the possible divergence from the ideal

 C_2 symmetry, the smaller the enantioselectivity. For example, the enantioselectivity of oxidation of sulfides by hydroperoxides in the presence of Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄/L* (Table 11) ranges from 0 to 89–99% ee in accordance with the quality of C_2 symmetry of the ligands. Reaction 10 involving ideal C_2 -symmetric Rh complexes with the ligands **230–232** proceeds with zero enantioselectivity. Alternatively, an increase in enantioselectivity of this reaction can be explained by a possible divergence from the ideal C_2 symmetry. The analogous symmetry dependence is observed in the reduction of acetophenone by chiral hydrides (Table 12).

In accordance with the reviewed data, it is possible to assume that the term asymmetry is more acceptable and uniform as applied to the phenomenon of asymmetric induction of a chemical reaction. The use of chiral induction instead of asymmetric induction in recent publications (see Ref. 345) is probably not an innovation.

References and notes

- 1. Whitesell, J. K. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 1581-1590.
- Bhowmick, K. C.; Joshi, N. N. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2006, 17, 1901– 1929.
- 3. Gleich, D.; Herrmann, W. A. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4354-4361.
- 4. Helmchen, G.; Pfaltz, A. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 336-345.
- 5. Inoguchi, K.; Sakuraba, S.; Achiwa, K. Synlett 1992, 169-178.
- (a) Pavlov, V. A. Russ. Chem. Rev. 2004, 73, 1173–1209; (b) Pavlov,
 V. A. Russ. Chem. Rev. 2002, 71, 33–48; (c) Pavlov, V. A. Russ. Chem. Rev. 2001, 70, 1037–1065.
- 7. Nagel, U. Angew. Chem. 1984, 96, 425-426.
- (a) Imamoto, T.; Watanabe, J.; Wada, Y.; Masuda, H.; Yamada, H.; Tsuruta, H.; Matsukawa, S.; Yamaguchi, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 1635–1636; (b) Ohashi, A.; Kikuchi, S.; Yasutake, M.; Imamoto, T. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 2535–2546; (c) Imamoto, T.; Oohara, N.; Takahashi, H. Synthesis 2004, 1353–1358.
- Wada, Y.; Imamoto, T.; Tsuruta, H.; Yamaguchi, K.; Gridnev, I. D. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2004, 346, 777–788.
- Burk, M. J.; Feaster, J. E.; Nugent, W. A.; Harlow, R. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 10125–10138.
- 11. Plington, C. J.; Zanotti-Gerosa, A. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1273-1275.
- Li, W.; Zhang, Z.; Xiao, D.; Zhang, X. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 3489– 3496.
- 13. Tang, W.; Zhang, X. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 1612-1614.
- Fernandez, E.; Gillon, A.; Heslop, K.; Horwood, E.; Hyett, D. J.; Orpen, A. G.; Pringle, P. G. *Chem. Commun.* **2000**, 1663–1664.
- (a) Miyashita, A.; Yasuda, A.; Takaya, H.; Toriumi, K.; Ito, T.; Souchi, T.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1980**, 102, 7932–7934; (b) Miyashita, A.; Takaya, H.; Noyori, R. ACS Symp. Ser. **1982**, 185, 274–277.
- 16. Zhou, Y.-G.; Zhang, X. Chem. Commun. 2002, 1124-1125.
- Hoge, G.; Wu, H.-P.; Kissel, W. S.; Pflum, D. A.; Green, D. J.; Bao, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 5966–5967.
- Pugin, B.; Studer, M.; Kuesters, E.; Sedelmeier, G.; Feng, X. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2004, 346, 1481–1486.
- (a) Lin, C. W.; Lin, C.-C.; Lam, L. F.-L.; Au-Yeung, T. T.-L.; Chan, A. S. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, *45*, 7379–7381; (b) Chan, A. S. C.; Hu, W.; Pai, C.-C.; Lau, C.-P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1997**, *119*, 9570–9571.
- Boaz, N. W.; Mackenzie, E. B.; Debenham, S. D.; Large, S. E.; Ponasik, J. A. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 1872–1880.
- (a) Duan, W.-L.; Shi, M.; Rong, G.-B. Chem. Commun. 2003, 2916– 2917; (b) Sudo, A.; Yoshida, H.; Saigo, K. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1997, 8, 3205–3208.
- Nishibayashi, Y.; Segawa, K.; Takada, H.; Ohe, K.; Uemura, S. *Chem. Commun.* 1996, 847–848.

- (a) Helmchen, G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 576, 203–214; (b) Pfaltz,
 A. Synlett 1999, 835–842; (c) Trost, B. M.; Van Vranken, D. L. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 395–422; (d) Frost, C. G.; Howarth, J.; Williams, J. M. J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1992, 3, 1089–1122.
- Tanner, D.; Andersson, P. G.; Harden, A.; Somfai, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1994, 35, 4631–4634.
- 25. Bayardon, J.; Sinou, D. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 3121-3128.
- Braga, A. L.; Paixao, M. W.; Milani, P.; Silveira, C. C.; Rodrigues, O. E. D.; Alves, E. F. Synlett 2004, 1297–1299.
- (a) Tietze, L. F.; Lohmann, J. K. Synlett 2002, 2083–2085; (b) von Matt,
 P.; Pfaltz, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 566–568; (c)
 Sprinz, J.; Helmchen, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 1769–1772.
- (a) Doyle, M. P.; McKervey, M. A.; Ye, T. Modern Catalytic Methods for Organic Synthesis with Diazo Compounds; Wiley: New York, NY, 1998;
 (b) Ito, Y. N.; Katsuki, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1999, 72, 603–619; (c) Doyle, M. P.; Protopopova, M. N. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 7919–7946; (d) Doyle, M. P.; Forbes, D. C. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 911–935; (e) Singh, V. K.; DattaGupta, A.; Sekar, G. Synthesis 1997, 137–149.
- Miller, J. A.; Jin, W.; Nguyen, S. T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 2953–2956.
- 30. Uchida, T.; Irie, R.; Katsuki, T. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 3501-3509.
- (a) Pu, L.; Yu, H.-B. Chem. Rev. 2001, 101, 757–824; (b) Soai, K.; Shibata, T. Comprehensive Asymmetric Catalysis; Jacobsen, E. N., Pfaltz, A., Yamamoto, H., Eds.; Springer: Berlin, 1999; Vol. 2, pp 911–922; (c) Noyori, R.; Kitamura, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 49–69; (d) Soai, K.; Niwa, S. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 833–856; (e) Betancort, J. M.; Garcia, C.; Walsh, P. J. Synlett 2004, 749–760.
- Balsells, J.; Betancort, J. M.; Walsh, P. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3428–3430.
- (a) Takahashi, H.; Kawakita, T.; Ohno, M.; Yoshioka, M.; Kobayashi, S. *Tetrahedron* **1992**, *48*, 5691–5700; (b) Yoshioka, M.; Kawakita, T.; Ohno, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, *30*, 1657–1660.
- 34. Paquette, L. A.; Zhou, R. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 7929-7934.
- 35. You, J.-S.; Shao, M.-Y.; Gau, H.-M. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2001**, *12*, 2971–2975.
- 36. Ito, K.; Kimura, Y.; Okamura, H.; Katsuki, T. Synlett 1992, 573-574.
- 37. Denmark, S. E.; Fu, J. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 2763-2793.
- (a) Yanagisawa, A.; Kageyama, H.; Nakatsuka, Y.; Asakawa, K.; Matsumoto, Y.; Yamamoto, H. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **1999**, *38*, 3701–3703; (b) Yanagisawa, A.; Nakashima, H.; Nakatsuka, Y.; Ichiba, A.; Yamamoto, H. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **2001**, *74*, 1129–1137.
- 39. Keck, G. E.; Geraci, L. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 7827-7828.
- Costa, A. L.; Piazza, M. G.; Tagliavini, E.; Trombini, C.; Umani-Ronchi, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 7001–7002.
- Hanawa, H.; Hashimoto, T.; Maruoka, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 1708–1709.
- 42. Teo, Y.-C.; Tan, K.-T.; Loh, T.-P. Chem. Commun. 2005, 1318-1320.
- Bedeschi, P.; Casolari, S.; Costa, A. L.; Tagliavini, E.; Umani-Rinchi, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 7897–7900.
- 44. (a) Kagan, H. B.; Riant, O. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 1007–1019; (b) Jorgensen, K. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3558–3588; (c) Jorgensen, K. A.; Johannsen, M.; Yao, S.; Audrain, H.; Thorhauge, J. Acc. Chem. Res. 1999, 32, 605–613.
- Wang, B.; Feng, X.; Huang, Y.; Liu, H.; Cui, X.; Jiang, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 2175–2182.
- Long, J.; Hu, J.; Shen, X.; Ji, B.; Ding, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 10–11.
- 47. (a) Christenson, D. L.; Tokar, C. J.; Tolman, W. B. Organometallics 1995, 14, 2148–2150; (b) Fritschi, H.; Leutenegger, H.; Pfaltz, A.; Kratky, C. Helv. Chim. Acta 1988, 71, 1553–1565; (c) Gupta, A. D.; Bhuniya, D.; Singh, V. K. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 13725–13730; (d) Nishiyama, H.; Itoh, Y.; Sugawara, Y.; Matsumoto, H.; Aoki, K.; Itoh, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1995, 68, 1247–1262.
- Balsells, J.; Davis, T. J.; Carroll, P.; Walsh, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 10336–10348.
- (a) Faller, J. W.; Smart, C. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, *30*, 1189–1192; (b) Corey, E. J.; Imwinkelried, R.; Pikul, S.; Xiang, Y. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1989**, *111*, 5493–5495.

- Goldfuss, B.; Steigelmann, M.; Khan, S. I.; Houk, K. N. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 77–82.
- 51. Goldfuss, B.; Houk, K. N. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 8998-9006.
- 52. Yamakawa, M.; Noyori, R. Organometallics 1999, 18, 128-133.
- 53. Yamakawa, M.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 6327-6335.
- Noyori, R.; Suga, S.; Kawai, K.; Okada, S.; Kitamura, M. Pure Appl. Chem. 1988, 60, 1597–1606.
- 55. Jian, L. S.; Yaozhong, J.; Aigiao, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **1992**, *3*, 1467–1474.
- Noyori, R.; Suga, S.; Kawai, K.; Okada, S.; Kitamura, M.; Oguni, N.; Hayashi, M.; Kaneko, T.; Matsuda, Y. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **1990**, *382*, 19–37.
- Reddy, K. S.; Sola, L.; Moyano, A.; Pericas, M. A.; Riera, A. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 3969–3974.
- Soai, K.; Ookawa, A.; Kaba, T.; Ogawa, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 7111–7115.
- Lawrence, C. F.; Nayak, S. K.; Thijs, L.; Zwanenburg, B. Synlett 1999, 1571–1572.
- Tanner, D.; Korno, H. T.; Guijarro, D.; Andersson, P. G. *Tetrahedron* 1998, 54, 14213–14232.
- 61. Behnen, W.; Mehler, T.; Martens, J. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1993**, *4*, 1413–1416.
- Yang, X.; Shen, J.; Da, C.; Wang, R.; Choi, M. C. K.; Yang, L.; Wong, K.-Y. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1999**, *10*, 133–138.
- Wassmann, S.; Wilken, J.; Martens, J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1999, 10, 4437–4445.
- 64. Wilken, J.; Kossenjans, M.; Groger, H.; Martens, J. *Tetrahedron:* Asymmetry **1997**, 8, 2007–2015.
- 65. Eilers, J.; Wilken, J.; Martens, J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1996, 7, 2343–2357.
- 66. Wilken, J.; Groger, H.; Kossenjans, M.; Martens, J. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1997**, *8*, 2761–2771.
- 67. Wallbaum, S.; Martens, J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1993, 4, 637-640.
- 68. Stingl, K.; Martens, J. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1994, 491-496.
- 69. Couty, F.; Prim, D. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2002, 13, 2619-2624.
- Scarpi, D.; Galbo, F. L.; Occhiato, E. G.; Guarna, A. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 1319–1324.
- Vilaplana, M. J.; Molina, P.; Arques, A.; Anders, C.; Pedrosa, R. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2002, 13, 5–8.
- 72. Huang, H.; Zheng, Z.; Chen, H.; Bai, C.; Wang, J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 1285–1289.
- 73. Li, M.; Yuan, K.; Li, Y.-Y.; Cao, B.-X.; Sun, J.; Hou, X.-L. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2003**, *14*, 3347–3352.
- Zhong, J.; Wang, M.; Guo, H.; Yin, M.; Bian, Q.; Wang, M. Synlett 2006, 1667–1670.
- 75. Tseng, S.-L.; Yang, T.-K. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 3375– 3380.
- Jin, M.-J.; Kim, Y.-M.; Lee, K.-S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 2695– 2696.
- Kang, J.; Lee, J. W.; Kim, J. I. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2009–2010.
- 78. Ricci, G.; Ruzziconi, R. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2005, 16, 1817-1827.
- Ding, K.; Ishii, A.; Mikami, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 497– 500.
- Mastranzo, V. M.; Santacruz, E.; Huelgas, G.; Paz, E.; Sosa-Rivadenyra, M. V.; Bernes, S.; Juaristi, E.; Quintero, L.; de Parrodi, C. A. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2006, 17, 1663–1670.
- Soai, K.; Yokoyama, S.; Ebihara, K.; Hayasaka, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 1690–1691.
- Andres, J. M.; Martinez, M. A.; Pedrosa, R.; Perez-Encabo, A. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 67–72.
- Belair, P.; Einhorn, C.; Einhorn, J.; Luche, J. L. *Tetrahedron* 1995, *51*, 165–172.
- (a) Bolm, C.; Schlingloff, G.; Harms, K. Chem. Ber. 1992, 125, 1191– 1203; (b) Bolm, C.; Zehnder, M.; Bur, D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 205–207.
- Spieler, J.; Huttenloch, O.; Waldmann, H. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 391–399.

- Fu, B.; Du, D.-M.; Wang, J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 119– 126.
- (a) Bolm, C.; Muniz-Fernandez, K.; Seger, A.; Raabe, G.; Gunther, K. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 7860–7867; (b) Bolm, C.; Muniz-Fernandez, K.; Seger, A.; Raabe, G. Synlett 1997, 1051–1052.
- Zhang, W.; Yoshinaga, H.; Imai, Y.; Kida, T.; Nakatsuji, Y.; Ikeda, I. Synlett 2000, 1512–1514.
- Anderson, J. C.; Cubbon, R.; Harding, M.; James, D. S. *Tetrahedron:* Asymmetry **1998**, 9, 3461–3490.
- Hof, R. P.; Poelert, M. A.; Peper, N. C. M. W.; Kellog, R. M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 31–34.
- 91. Kang, J.; Kim, D. S.; Kim, J. I. Synlett 1994, 842-844.
- Kossenjans, M.; Soeberdt, M.; Wallbaum, S.; Harms, K.; Martens, J.; Aurich, H. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 2353–2365.
- Braga, A. L.; Milani, P.; Paixao, M. W.; Zeni, G.; Rodrigues, O. E. D.; Alves, E. F. Chem. Commun. 2004, 2488–2489.
- 94. Schneider, P. H.; Schrekker, P. H.; Silveira, C. C.; Wessjohann, L. A.; Braga, A. L. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 2715–2722.
- 95. (a) Braga, A. L.; Paixao, M. W.; Ludtke, D. S.; Silveira, C. C.; Rodrigues, O. E. D. Org. Lett. **2003**, *5*, 2635–2722; (b) Braga, A. L.; Ludtke, D. S.; Vargas, F.; Braga, R. C. Synlett **2006**, 1453–1466.
- (a) Fitzpatrick, K.; Kellogg, R. M. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1995**, *6*, 1861–1864;
 (b) Wirth, T.; Kulicke, K. J.; Fragale, G. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1996**, *79*, 1957–1966.
- 97. Cobb, A. J. A.; Marson, C. M. Tetrahedron 2002, 61, 1005-1014.
- (a) Hatano, M.; Miyamoto, T.; Ishihara, K. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 1561–1568;
 (b) Hatano, M.; Miyamoto, T.; Ishihara, K. Synlett 2006, 1762–1764.
- 99. Le Goanvic, D.; Holler, M.; Pale, P. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2002, 13, 119–121.
- Kezuka, S.; Mita, T.; Ohtsuki, N.; Ikeno, T.; Yamada, T. Chem. Lett. 2000, 824–825.
- 101. Vyskocil, S.; Jaracz, S.; Smrcina, M.; Sticha, M.; Hanus, V.; Polasek, M.; Kocovsky, P. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 7727–7737.
- 102. Takahashi, H.; Kawakita, T.; Yoshioka, M.; Kobayashi, S.; Ohno, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *30*, 7095–7098.
- 103. Lake, F.; Moberg, C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 755-760.
- Pini, D.; Mastantuono, A.; Uccedo-Barretta, G.; Iuliano, A.; Salvadori, P. *Tetrahedron* 1993, 49, 9613–9624.
- 105. (a) Shi, M.; Satoh, Y.; Masaki, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 2547–2552; (b) Shi, M.; Jiang, J.-K. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1999, 10, 1673–1679.
- 106. Masaki, Y.; Satoh, Y.; Makihara, T.; Shi, M. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1996, 44, 454–456.
- 107. Masaki, Y.; Oda, H.; Kazuta, K.; Usui, A.; Itoh, A.; Xu, F. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *33*, 5089–5092.
- 108. Shi, M.; Satoh, Y.; Makihara, T.; Masaki, Y. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 1995, 6, 2109–2112.
- 109. Rosner, T.; Sears, P. J.; Nugent, W. A.; Blackmond, D. G. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 2511–2513.
- 110. Bernard, M.; Delbecq, F.; Sautet, P.; Fache, F.; Lemaire, M. Organometallics 2000, 19, 5715–5722.
- 111. (a) Palmer, M. J.; Wills, M. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 1999, 10, 2045–2061; (b) Noyori, R.; Hashiguchi, S. Acc. Chem. Res. 1997, 30, 97–102; (c) Zassinovich, G.; Mestroni, G.; Gladiali, S. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 1051–1069.
- 112. (a) Gamez, P.; Fache, F.; Mangeney, P.; Lemaire, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 6897–6898; (b) Spogliarich, R.; Kaspar, J.; Graziani, M.; Morandini, F. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **1986**, *306*, 407–412; (c) Gamez, P.; Fache, F.; Lemaire, M. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1995**, *6*, 705–718.
- Genet, J.-P.; Ratovelomanana-Vidal, V.; Pinel, C. Synlett 1993, 478–480.
 Kriis, K.; Kanger, T.; Lopp, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15,
- 2687–2691. 115. Touchhard, F.; Fache, F.; Lemaire, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **1997**, 8,
- 3319-3326.
- 116. Gamez, P.; Dunjic, B.; Lemaire, M. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 5196-5197.
- 117. Muller, D.; Umblich, G.; Weber, B.; Pfaltzá, A. Helv. Chim. Acta 1991, 74, 232–240.

- Pavlov, V. A.; Vinogradov, M. G.; Starodubtseva, E. V.; Chel'tsova, G. V.; Ferapontov, V. A.; Malyshev, O. R.; Heise, G. L. Russ. Chem. Bull., Int. Ed. 2001, 50, 734–735.
- Nishibayashi, Y.; Singh, J. D.; Arikawa, Y.; Uemura, S.; Hidai, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1997, 531, 13–18.
- (a) Mashima, K.; Abe, T.; Tani, K. Chem. Lett. 1998, 1199–1200; (b) Mashima, K.; Abe, T.; Tani, K. Chem. Lett. 1998, 1201–1202.
- 121. Murata, K.; Ikariya, T.; Noyori, R. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 2186–2187.
- 122. Inoue, S.; Nomura, K.; Hashiguchi, S.; Noyori, R.; Izawa, Y. *Chem. Lett.* **1997**, 957–958.
- 123. Petra, D. G. I.; Kamer, P. C. J.; Spek, A. L.; Schoemaker, H. E.; van Leeuwen, P. W. N. M. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 3010–3017.
- 124. Karame, I.; Jahjah, M.; Massaoudi, A.; Tomasino, M. L.; Lemaire, M. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2004**, *15*, 1569–1581.
- Debono, N.; Besson, M.; Pinel, C.; Diakovetch, L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 2235–2238.
- Maillard, D.; Nquefack, C.; Pozzi, G.; Guici, S.; Valade, B.; Sinou, D. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2000, 11, 2881–2884.
- 127. (a) Fujii, A.; Hashiguchi, S.; Uematsu, N.; Ikariya, T.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2521–2522; (b) Bayston, D. J.; Travers, C. B.; Polywka, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1998, 9, 2015–2018.
- 128. Hashiguchi, S.; Fujii, A.; Takehara, J.; Ikariya, T.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 7562–7563.
- 129. Burbert, C.; Blacker, J.; Brown, S. M.; Crosby, J.; Fitzjohn, S.; Muxworthy, J. P.; Thorpe, T.; Williams, J. M. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42, 4037–4039.
- 130. Chen, Y.-C.; Wu, T.-F.; Deng, J.-G.; Liu, H.; Jiang, Y.-Z.; Choi, M. C. K.; Chan, A. S. C. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1488–1489.
- 131. Sterk, D.; Stephan, M. S.; Mohar, B. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2002**, *13*, 2605–2608.
- 132. Ma, Y.; Liu, H.; Chen, L.; Cui, X.; Zhu, J.; Deng, J. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2103–2106.
- 133. Zhou, Y.-B.; Tang, F.-Y.; Xu, H.-D.; Wu, X.-Y.; Ma, J.-A.; Zhou, G.-L. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2002**, *13*, 469–473.
- 134. Takehara, J.; Hashiguchi, S.; Fujii, A.; Inoue, S.; Ikariya, T.; Noyori, R. *Chem. Commun.* **1996**, 233–234.
- 135. Pasto, M.; Rier, A.; Pericas, M. A. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 2337-2341.
- Palmer, M.; Walsgrove, T.; Wills, M. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 5226– 5228.
- 137. Alonso, D. A.; Nordin, S. J. M.; Roth, P.; Tarnai, T.; Andersson, P. G.; Thommen, M.; Pittelkow, U. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 3116–3122.
- 138. Patti, A.; Pedotti, S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 597-602.
- 139. Langer, A.; Helmchen, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 1381-1384.
- 140. Sammakia, T.; Stangeland, E. L. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 6104-6105.
- 141. (a) Tan, D.-M.; Chan, K. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, 46, 503–505; (b) Harfouche, J.; Herault, D.; Tomasino, M. L.; Pellet-Rastaing, S.; Lemaire, M. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2004, 15, 3413–3418.
- 142. (a) Petra, D. G. I.; Reek, J. N. H.; Handgraaf, J.-W.; Meijer, E. J.; Dierkes, P.; Kamer, P. C. J.; Brussee, J.; Schoemaker, H. E.; van Leeuwen, P. W. N. M. *Chem.—Eur. J.* **2000**, *6*, 2818–2829; (b) Petra, D. G. I.; Kamer, P. C. J.; van Leeuwen, P. W. N. M.; Goubitz, K.; van Loon, A. M.; de Vries, J. G.; Schoemaker, H. E. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **1999**, *65*, 2335–2341.
- 143. Wu, X.; Li, X.; Hems, W.; King, F.; Xiao, J. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2004, 2, 1818–1821.
- 144. Hannedouche, J.; Clarkson, G. L.; Wills, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 986–987.
- 145. (a) Liu, P.-N.; Gu, P.-M.; Deng, J.-G.; Tu, Y.-Q.; Ma, Y.-P. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 3221–3227; (b) Liu, W.; Cui, X.; Cun, L.; Zhu, J.; Deng, J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2005, 16, 2525–2530; (c) Matsunaga, H.; Ishizuka, T.; Kunieda, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 3645–3648; (d) Vastila, P.; Wettergren, J.; Adolfs, H. Chem. Commun. 2005, 4039– 4041.
- 146. Sortais, J.-B.; Ritleng, V.; Voelklin, A.; Holuique, A.; Smail, H.; Barloy, L.; Sirlin, C.; Verzijl, G. K. M.; Boogers, J. A. F.; de Vries, A. H. M.; de Vries, J. G.; Pfeffer, M. *Org. Lett.* **2005**, *7*, 1247–1250.
- 147. Reetz, M. T.; Li, X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 1044-1045.

- 148. Gao, J.-X.; Ikariya, T.; Noyori, R. Organometallics 1996, 15, 1087-1089.
- 149. Gao, J.-X.; Yi, X.-D.; Xu, P.-P.; Tang, C.-L.; Wan, H.-L.; Ikariya, T. J. Organomet. Chem. **1999**, 592, 290–295.
- 150. (a) Ohkuma, T.; Ooka, H.; Hashiguchi, S.; Ikariya, T.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 2675–2676; (b) Ohkuma, T.; Ooka, H.; Ikariyaá, T.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 10417–10418; (c) Ohkuma, T.; Koizumi, M.; Doucet, H.; Pham, T.; Kozawa, M.; Murata, K.; Katayama, E.; Yokozawa, T.; Ikariya, T.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 13529–13530; (d) Ohkuma, T.; Ishii, D.; Takeno, H.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 6510–6511; (e) Ohkuma, T.; Koizumi, M.; Muniz, K.; Hilt, G.; Kabuto, C.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 6508–6509; (f) Doucet, H.; Ohkuma, T.; Murata, K.; Yokozawa, T.; Kozawa, M.; Katayama, E.; England, A. F.; Ikariya, T.; Noyori, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 1703–1707.
- 151. Hu, A.; Ngo, H. L.; Lin, W. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2937-2940.
- 152. (a) Ngo, H. L.; Hu, A.; Lin, W. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 595–597; (b) Ngo, H. L.; Lin, W. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 1177–1187.
- Henschke, J. P.; Zanotti-Gerosa, A.; Moran, P.; Harrison, P.; Mullen, B.; Casy, G.; Lennon, I. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 4379–4383.
- 154. Xie, J.-H.; Wang, L.-X.; Fu, Y.; Zhu, S.-F.; Fan, B.-M.; Duan, H.-F.; Zhou, Q.-L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 4404–4405.
- 155. Cao, P.; Zhang, X. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 2127-2129.
- Guo, R.; Elpelt, C.; Chen, X.; Song, D.; Morris, R.-H. Chem. Commun. 2005, 3050–3052.
- 157. Xu, Y. A.; Clarkson, G. C.; North, C. L.; Woodward, G.; Wills, M. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 8079–8087.
- 158. Jing, Q.; Zhang, X.; Sun, J.; Ding, K. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 1193–1197.
- (a) Sandoval, C. A.; Ohkuma, T.; Muniz, K.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 13490–13503; (b) Abdur-Rashid, K.; Lough, A. J.; Morris, R. H. Organometallics 2001, 20, 1047–1049; (c) Abdur-Rashid, K.; Chapman, S. E.; Hadzovic, A.; Harvey, J. N.; Lough, A. J.; Morris, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 15104–15118; (d) Abdur-Rashid, K.; Faatz, M.; Lough, A. J.; Morris, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 7473–7474; (e) Hamilton, R. J.; Leong, C. G.; Bigam, G.; Miskolzie, M.; Bergens, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 4152–4153.
- 160. Noyori, R. Acta Chem. Scand. 1996, 50, 380-390.
- 161. (a) Maienza, F.; Santoro, F.; Sprinder, F.; Malan, C.; Mezzetti, A. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2002, *13*, 1817–1824; (b) Ngo, H. L.; Hu, A.; Lin, W. *Chem. Commun.* 2003, 1912–1913; (c) Botman, P. N. M.; Fraanje, J.; Goubitz, K.; Peschar, R.; Verhoeven, J. W.; van Maarseveen, J. H.; Hiemstra, H. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2004, *346*, 743–754; (d) Wan, X.; Sun, Y.; Luo, Y.; Li, D.; Zhang, Z. *J. Org. Chem.* 2005, *70*, 1070–1072; (e) Wang, C.-J.; Tao, H.; Zhang, X. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2006, *47*, 1901–1903.
- 162. Pavlov, V. A.; Starodubtseva, E. V.; Vinogradov, M. G.; Ferapontov, V. A.; Malyshev, O. R.; Heise, G. L. *Russ. Chem. Bull., Int. Ed.* **2000**, 49, 728–731.
- 163. Chiba, M.; Takahashi, H.; Takahashi, H.; Morimoto, T.; Achiwa, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 3675–3678.
- 164. Tani, K.; Suwa, K.; Tanigawa, E.; Ise, T.; Yamagata, T.; Tatsuno, Y.; Otsuka, S. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 370, 203–221.
- 165. Motimoto, T.; Chiba, M.; Achiwa, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 4755-4758.
- 166. Morimoto, T.; Takahashi, H.; Fujii, K.; Chiba, M.; Achiwa, K. Chem. Lett. 1986, 2061–2064.
- 167. Takahashi, H.; Hattori, M.; Chiba, M.; Morimoto, T.; Achiwa, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1986**, 27, 4477–4480.
- 168. Roucoux, A.; Agbossou, F.; Mortreux, A.; Petit, F. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1993, 4, 2279–2282.
- 169. Hatat, C.; Karim, A.; Kokel, N.; Mortreux, A.; Petit, F. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1998, 29, 3675–3678.
- 170. Hatat, C.; Kokel, N.; Mortreux, A.; Petit, F. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 4139–4142.
- 171. Hayashi, H.; Tanaka, M.; Ogata, I. Tetrahedron Lett. 1977, 295-296.
- 172. Toros, S.; Heil, B.; Kollar, L.; Marko, L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1978, 159, 401–407.
- 173. Levi, A.; Modena, G.; Scorrano, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1975, 6–7.

- 174. Heil, B.; Toros, S.; Vastag, S.; Marko, L. J. Organomet. Chem. **1975**, 94, C47–C48.
- 175. Tanaka, M.; Ogata, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1975, 735.
- 176. Vastag, S.; Bakos, J.; Toros, S.; Takach, N. E.; King, R. B.; Heil, B.; Marko, L. J. Mol. Catal. 1984, 22, 283–287.
- 177. Becalski, A. G.; Cullen, W. R.; Fryzuk, M. D.; James, B. R.; Kang, G.-J.; Retting, S. J. *Inorg. Chem.* **1991**, *30*, 5002–5008.
- 178. Lightfoot, A.; Schnider, P.; Pfaltz, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 2897–2899.
- 179. (a) Blackmond, D. G.; Lightfoot, A.; Pfaltz, A.; Rosner, T.; Schnider, P.; Zimmermann, N. *Chirality* 2000, *12*, 442–449; (b) Cozzi, P. G.; Zimmermann, N.; Hilgraf, R.; Schaffner, S.; Pfaltz, A. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2001, *343*, 450–454.
- (a) Smidt, S. P.; Menges, F.; Pfaltz, A. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2023–2026;
 (b) Bernardinelli, G. H.; Kundig, E. P.; Meier, P.; Pfaltz, A.; Radkowski, K.; Zimmermann, N.; Neuburger-Zehnder, M. Helv. Chim. Acta 2001, 84, 3233–3240.
- 181. Tang, W.; Wang, W.; Zhang, X. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 943-946.
- 182. Schenkel, L. B.; Ellman, J. A. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 1800-1802.
- 183. Bunlaksananusorn, T.; Polborn, K.; Knochel, P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 3941–3943.
- 184. Bunlaksananusorn, T.; Knochel, P. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 4595-4601.
- 185. (a) Blankenstein, J.; Pfaltz, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 4445–4447; (b) Drury, W. J., III; Zimmermann, N.; Keenan, M.; Hayashi, M.; Kaiser, S.; Goddard, R.; Pfaltz, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 70–74.
- 186. Hou, D.-R.; Reibenspies, J. H.; Colacot, T. J.; Burgess, K. Chem.—Eur. J. 2001, 7, 5391–5400.
- 187. Xu, G.; Gilbertson, S. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 953-955.
- 188. Hilgraf, R.; Pfaltz, A. Synlett 1999, 1814-1816.
- 189. Perry, M. C.; Cui, X.; Powell, M. T.; Hou, D.-R.; Reibenspies, J. H.; Burgess, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 113–123.
- 190. Nanchen, S.; Pfaltz, A. Chem.-Eur. J. 2006, 12, 4550-4558.
- 191. Lui, Q.-B.; Yu, C.-B.; Zhou, Y.-G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2006, 47, 4733–4736.
 192. (a) Gridnev, I. D.; Higashi, N.; Imamoto, T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2000, 122, 10486–10487; (b) Gridnev, I. D.; Higashi, N.; Asakura, K.; Imamoto, T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2000, 122, 7183–7194; (c) Gridnev, I. D.; Yasutake, M.; Higashi, N.; Imamoto, T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2001, 123, 5268–5276.
- 193. Trifonova, A.; Diesen, J. S.; Chapman, C. J.; Andersson, P. G. *Org. Lett.* 2004, *6*, 3825–3827.
- 194. Pez, G. P.; Armor, J. N. Adv. Organomet. Chem. 1981, 19, 1-50.
- 195. Harrod, J. F.; Yun, S. S. Organometallics 1987, 6, 1381-1387.
- 196. de Wolf, J. M.; Meetsma, A.; Teuben, J. H. Organometallics 1995, 14, 5466–5468.
- 197. (a) Bercaw, J. E.; Brintzinger, H. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1969, 91, 7301–7306; (b) Troyanov, S. I.; Antropiusova, H.; Mach, K. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 427, 49–55; (c) Xin, S.; Harrod, J. F.; Samuel, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 11562–11563.
- 198. Aitken, C. T.; Harrod, J. F.; Samuel, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 4059–4066.
- Splatenstein, E.; Palma, P.; Kreutzer, K. A.; Willoughby, C. A.; Davis, W. M.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1994**, 116, 10308–10309.
- 200. Gomez, R.; Cuenca, T.; Royo, P.; Pellinghelli, M. A.; Tiripicchlo, A. Organometallics 1991, 10, 1505–1510.
- 201. Waymouth, R.; Pino, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 4911-4914.
- 202. Conticello, V. P.; Brard, L.; Giardello, M. A.; Tsuji, Y.; Sabat, M.; Stern, C. L.; Marks, T. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 2761–2762.
- 203. Broene, R. D.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 12569– 12570.
- 204. Halterman, R. L.; Volhardt, K. P. C.; Welker, M. E.; Blaser, D.; Boese, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 8105–8107.
- 205. Troutman, M. V.; Appella, D. H.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 4916–4917.
- 206. Willoughby, C. A.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7562– 7564.
- 207. (a) Ringwald, M.; Sturmer, R.; Brintzinger, H. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 1524–1527; (b) Willoghby, C. A.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 11703–11714; (c) Willoghby, C. A.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 8952–8965.

- 208. Cesarotti, E.; Ugo, R.; Kagan, H. B. Angew. Chem. 1979, 91, 842.
- 209. (a) Diegues, M.; Pamies, O.; Claver, C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2004, *15*, 2113–2122; (b) Agbossou, F.; Carpentier, J.-F.; Mortreux, A. *Chem. Rev.* 1995, *95*, 2485–2506; (c) Consiglio, G.; Nefkens, S. C. A.; Borer, A. *Organometallics* 1991, *10*, 2046–2051; (d) Gladiali, S.; Pinna, L. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 1991, *2*, 623–632; (e) Consiglio, G.; Kollar, L.; Kolliker, R. *J. Organomet. Chem.* 1990, *396*, 375–383; (f) Kollar, L.; Consiglio, G.; Pino, P. *J. Organomet. Chem.* 1987, *330*, 305–314; (g) Consiglio, G.; Morandini, F.; Scalone, M.; Pino, P. *J. Organomet. Chem.* 1985, *279*, 193–202; (h) Consiglio, G.; Pino, P. *Top. Curr. Chem.* 1982, *105*, 77–123.
- (a) Gladiali, S.; Bayon, J. C.; Claver, C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 1995,
 1453–1474;
 Noyori, R. *Asymmetric Catalysis in Organic Synthesis*; Wiley: New York, NY, 1994;
 (c) Consiglio, G. *Catalytic Asymmetric Synthesis*; Ojima, I., Ed.; VCH: New York, NY, 1993; p 273.
- 211. Hayashi, T.; Tanaka, M.; Ogata, I.; Kodama, T.; Takahashi, T.; Uchida, Y.; Uchida, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1983, 56, 1780–1785.
- Masdeu-Bulto, A. M.; Orejon, A.; Castellanos, A.; Castillon, S.; Claver, C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 1996, 7, 1829–1834.
- 213. Kollar, L.; Bakos, J.; Toth, I.; Heil, B. J. Organomet. Chem. 1988, 350, 277–284.
- 214. Kollar, L.; Sandor, P.; Szalontai, G. J. Mol. Catal. 1991, 67, 191– 198.
- 215. Pittman, C. U.; Kawabata, Y.; Flowers, L. I. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1982, 473–474.
- Hayashi, T.; Tanaka, M.; Ikeda, Y.; Ogata, I. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1979, 52, 2605–2608.
- 217. Parrinello, G.; Deschenaux, R.; Stille, J. K. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 4189–4195.
- 218. Consiglio, G.; Pino, P.; Flowers, L. I.; Pittman, C. U. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1983**, 612–613.
- 219. Buisman, G. J. H.; Vos, E. J.; Kamer, P. C. J.; van Leeuwen, P. W. N. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 409–417.
- Buisman, G. J. H.; van der Veen, L. A.; Klootwijk, A.; de Lange, W. G. J.; Kamer, P. C. J.; van Leeuwen, P. W. N. M.; Vogt, D. *Organometallics* **1997**, *16*, 2929–2939.
- 221. Jiang, Y.; Xue, S.; Li, Z.; Deng, J.; Mi, A.; Chan, A. S. C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **1998**, *9*, 3185–3189.
- 222. Cserepi-Szucs, S.; Huttner, G.; Zsolnai, L.; Bakos, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 586, 70–78.
- 223. Cobley, C. J.; Klosin, J.; Qin, C.; Whiteker, G. T. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3277–3280.
- 224. Claver, C.; Castillon, S.; Ruiz, N.; Delogu, G.; Fabbri, D.; Gladiali, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1833–1834.
- 225. Breeden, S.; Cole-Hamilton, D. J.; Foster, D. F.; Schwarz, G. J.; Wills, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 4106–4108.
- 226. Nettekoven, U.; Kamer, P. C. J.; Widhalm, M.; van Leeuwen, P. W. N. M. Organometallics 2000, 19, 4596–4607.
- 227. Nozaki, K.; Sakai, N.; Nanno, T.; Higashijima, T.; Mano, S.; Horiuchi, T.; Takaya, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 4413–4423.
- 228. Francio, G.; Leitner, W. Chem. Commun. 1999, 1663-1664.
- 229. Sakai, N.; Mano, S.; Nozaki, K.; Takaya, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 7033–7034.
- 230. Nozaki, K.; Matsuo, T.; Shibahara, F.; Hiyama, T. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2001, 343, 61–63.
- 231. Higashizima, T.; Sakai, N.; Nozaki, K.; Takaya, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 2023–2026.
- 232. Yan, Y.; Zhang, X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 7198-7202.
- 233. Dieguez, M.; Pamies, O.; Ruiz, A.; Castillon, S.; Claver, C. Chem. Commun. 2000, 1607–1608.
- 234. Parrinello, G.; Stille, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 7122-7127.
- 235. Stille, J. K.; Su, H.; Brechot, P.; Parrinello, G.; Hegedus, L. S. Organometallics 1991, 10, 1183–1189.
- (a) Dieguez, M.; Ruiz, A.; Claver, C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2001, *12*, 2827–2834; (b) Pamies, O.; Net, G.; Ruiz, A.; Claver, C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2001, *12*, 3441–3445; (c) Basoli, C.; Botteghi, C.; Cabras, M. A.; Chelucci, G.; Marchetti, M. *J. Organomet. Chem.* 1995, 488, C20–C22.

- 237. (a) Alexakis, A.; Benhaim, C. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2002, 3221–3236; (b) Krause, N.; Hoffmann-Roder, A. *Synthesis* 2001, 171–196; (c) Feringa, B. L. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2000, *33*, 346–353; (d) Rossiter, B. E.; Swingle, N. M. *Chem. Rev.* 1992, *92*, 771–806.
- Alexakis, A.; Burton, J.; Vasta, J.; Mangeney, P. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 1997, 8, 3987–3990.
- 239. Yamanoi, Y.; Imamoto, T. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 2988-2989.
- Huttenloch, O.; Spieler, J.; Waldmann, H. Chem.—Eur. J. 2001, 7, 671– 675.
- 241. de Vries, A. H. M.; Meetsma, A.; Feringa, B. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1996, 35, 2374–2376.
- 242. Reetz, M. T.; Gosberg, A.; Moulin, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 1189–1191.
- 243. (a) Bolm, C.; Ewald, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 5011–5012; (b) Bolm, C.; Ewald, M.; Felder, M. *Chem. Ber.* **1992**, *125*, 1205–1215.
- 244. Bolm, C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1991, 2, 701-704.
- 245. Asami, M.; Usui, K.; Higuchi, S.; Inoue, S. Chem. Lett. 1994, 297-298.
- 246. Soai, K.; Hayasaka, T.; Ugajin, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 516–517.
- 247. Corma, A.; Iglesisas, M.; Martin, M. V.; Rubio, J.; Sanchez, F. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1992, 3, 845–848.
- 248. Takahashi, Y.; Yamamoto, Y.; Katagiri, K.; Danjo, H.; Yamaguchi, K.; Imamoto, T. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 9009–9012.
- 249. Yin, Y.; Li, X.; Lee, D.-S.; Yang, T.-K. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2000**, *11*, 3329–3333.
- 250. Wan, H.; Hu, Y.; Liang, Y.; Gao, S.; Wang, J.; Zheng, Z.; Hu, X. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 8277–8280.
- 251. de Vries, A. H. M.; Imbos, R.; Ferigna, B. L. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1997**, *8*, 1467–1473.
- 252. Hu, X.; Chen, H.; Zhang, X. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 3518-3521.
- (a) Morimoto, T.; Mochizuki, N.; Suzuki, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 5717–5722; (b) Ito, K.; Eno, S.; Saito, B.; Katsuki, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, 46, 3981–3985.
- 254. Mizutani, H.; Degrado, S. J.; Hoveyda, A. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 779–781.
- 255. Lin, Y.-M.; Fu, I.-P.; Uang, B.-J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 3217–3221.
- 256. Colombo, A.; Marturano, G.; Pasini, A. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1986, 116, 35–40.
- 257. Sasaki, C.; Nakajima, K.; Kojima, M.; Fijita, J. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1991, 64, 1318–1324.
- 258. Nakajima, K.; Kojima, K.; Kojima, M.; Fujita, J. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1990, 63, 2620–2630.
- 259. Palucki, M.; Hanson, P.; Jacobsen, E. N. Tetrahedron Lett. **1992**, *33*, 7111–7114.
- 260. Zeng, Q.; Wang, H.; Wang, T.; Cai, Y.; Weng, W.; Zhao, Y. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 1933–1936.
- Drago, C.; Caggiano, L.; Jackson, R. F. W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 7221–7223.
- 262. Jeong, Y.-C.; Huang, Y. D.; Choi, S.; Ahn, K.-H. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2005, 16, 3497–3501.
- 263. Takeda, T.; Imamoto, T. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1999, 10, 3209-3218.
- 264. Brunel, J. M.; Kagan, H. B. Synlett 1996, 404-406.
- 265. Pitchen, P.; Dunach, E.; Deshmukh, M. N.; Kagan, H. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 8188–8193.
- 266. Di Furia, F.; Modena, G.; Seraglia, R. Synthesis 1984, 325-326.
- 267. Massa, A.; Mazza, V.; Scettri, A. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2005, 16, 2271–2275.
- 268. Yamanoi, Y.; Imamoto, T. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 8560-8564.
- Donnoli, M. I.; Superchi, S.; Rosini, C. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 9392– 9395.
- 270. Vogl, E. M.; Groger, H.; Shibasaki, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 1570–1577.
- 271. (a) Hamashima, Y.; Sawada, D.; Kanai, M.; Shibasaki, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 2641–2642; (b) Ren, Y.; Tian, X.; Sun, K.; Xu, J.; Xu, X.; Lu, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 463–465.
- 272. Ooi, T.; Kagoshima, N.; Maruoka, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 5754–5755.

- 273. Murakata, K.; Jono, T.; Mizuno, Y.; Hoshino, O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 11713–11714.
- 274. Ishitani, H.; Ueno, M.; Kobayashi, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 8180-8186.
- 275. Trost, B. M.; Schroeder, G. M. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 1569-1573.
- 276. Nemoto, T.; Ohshima, T.; Yamaguchi, K.; Shibasaki, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 2725–2732.
- 277. Tse, M. K.; Dobler, C.; Bhor, S.; Klawonn, M.; Magerlein, W.; Hugl, H.; Beller, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 5255–5260.
- 278. Ikeno, T.; Sato, M.; Sekino, H.; Nishizuka, A.; Yamada, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2001, 74, 2139–2150.
- 279. Chen, F.; Feng, X.; Gin, B.; Zhang, G.; Jiang, Y. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 949– 952.
- 280. Trost, B. M.; Yasukata, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 7162-7163.
- 281. Ji, J.; Barnes, D. M.; Zhang, J.; King, S. A.; Wittenberger, S. J.; Morton, H. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 10215–10216.
- 282. Trost, B. M.; Ito, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 12003-12004.
- 283. Lu, J.; Ji, S.-J.; Teo, Y.-C.; Loh, T.-P. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 159-161.
- 284. Mascarenhas, C. M.; Miller, S. P.; White, P. S.; Morken, J. P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 601–603.
- (a) Mikami, K.; Yamanaka, M. Chem. Rev. 2003, 3369–3400; (b) Ishii,
 A.; Soloshonok, V. A.; Mikami, K. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 1597–1599;
 (c) Mikami, K.; Terada, M.; Korenaga, T.; Matsumoto, Y.; Ueki, M.;
 Angelaud, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3532–3556; (d) Matsukawa, S.; Mikami, K. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1997, 8, 815–816; (e)
 Mikami, K.; Matsukawa, S. Nature 1997, 385, 613–617; (f) Matsukawa,
 S.; Mikami, K. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1995, 6, 2571–2574.
- 286. Costa, A. M.; Jimeno, C.; Gavenonis, J.; Carroll, P. J.; Walsh, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 6929–6941.
- Vinogradov, M. G.; Gorshkova, L. S.; Pavlov, V. A.; Mikhalev, O. V.; Chel'tsova, G. V.; Razmanov, I. V.; Ferapontov, V. A.; Malyshev, O. R.; Heise, G. L. *Russ. Chem. Bull., Int. Ed.* 2000, 49, 460–465.
- 288. Vinogradov, M. G.; Gorshkova, L. S.; Chel'tsova, G. V.; Pavlov, V. A.; Razmanov, I. V.; Ferapontov, V. A.; Malyshev, O. R.; Heise, G. L. *Russ. Chem. Bull., Int. Ed.* **2003**, *52*, 471–479.
- 289. Noyori, R.; Tomino, I.; Tanimoto, Y.; Nishizawa, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 6709–6716.
- 290. Kabuto, K.; Yoshida, T.; Yamaguchi, S.; Miyano, S.; Hashimoto, H. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 3013–3015.
- 291. Suda, H.; Kanoh, S.; Umeda, N.; Ikka, M.; Motoi, M. Chem. Lett. 1984, 899–902.
- 292. Wakabayashi, Y.; Imamura, S. Japan Patent 6,219,542, 1987; *Chem. Abstr.* **1987**, *107*, 175489w.
- 293. Ashby, E. C.; Dobbs, F. R.; Hopkins, H. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 2823–2829.
- 294. Malkov, A. V.; Bell, M.; Orsini, M.; Pernazza, D.; Massa, A.; Herrmann, P.; Meghani, P.; Kocovsky, P. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9659–9668.
- 295. Huisger, R.; Ruchardt, C. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1956, 601, 31-38.
- 296. Brown, H. C.; Mandal, A. K. J. Org. Chem. 1977, 42, 2996-2999.
- 297. Suri, J. T.; Vu, T.; Hernandez, A.; Congdon, J.; Singaram, B. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 3649–3652.
- 298. Itsuno, S.; Nakano, M.; Miyazaki, K.; Masuda, H.; Ito, K. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1985, 2039–2044.
- 299. Martens, J.; Dauelsberg, C.; Behnen, W.; Wallbaum, S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1992, 3, 347–350.
- 300. Rama Rao, A. V.; Gurjiar, M. K.; Sharma, P. A.; Kaiwar, V. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1990, 31, 2341–2347.
- 301. Rama Rao, A. V.; Kaiwar, V. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1992, 3, 859-862.
- 302. Suzuki, Y.; Abe, I.; Hiroi, K. Heterocycles 1999, 50, 89-94.
- 303. (a) Mino, T.; Tanaka, Y.; Sakamoto, M.; Fujita, T. *Heterocycles* 2000, *53*, 1485–1488; (b) Mino, T.; Tanaka, Y.; Sakamoto, M.; Fujita, T. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2001, *12*, 2435–2440.
- 304. (a) Saitoh, A.; Achiwa, K.; Tanaka, K.; Morimoto, T. J. Org. Chem.
 2000, 65, 4227-4240; (b) Saitoh, A.; Uda, T.; Morimoto, T. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2000, 11, 4049-4053.
- 305. Brunner, H.; Winter, A.; Breu, J. J. Organomet. Chem. **1998**, 553, 285–306.

- 306. Harada, T.; Takeuchi, M.; Hatsuda, M.; Ueda, S.; Oku, A. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1996**, *7*, 2479–2482.
- 307. Gao, D.; Schefzick, S.; Lipkowitz, K. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 9481–9482.
- Lipkowitz, K. B.; Gao, D.; Katzenelson, O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5559–5564.
- 309. Landis, C. R.; Feldgus, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 2863-2866.
- 310. Guiral, V.; Delbecq, F.; Sautet, P. Organometallics 2001, 20, 2207-2214.
- 311. Yamakawa, M.; Ito, H.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 1466–1478.
- 312. Alonso, D. A.; Brandt, P.; Nordin, S. J. M.; Andersson, P. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 9580–9588.
- 313. Fraile, J. M.; Garsia, J. I.; Martinez-Merino, V.; Mayoral, J. A.; Salvatella, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 7616–7625.
- (a) Wang, D. Z. <<u>http://preprint/chemweb/com/orgchem/0403001</u>>; (b)
 Wang, D. Z. <<u>http://preprint/chemweb/com/orgchem/0403002</u>>.
- 315. Wang, D. Z. Mendeleev Commun. 2004, 244-247.
- 316. Sun, Y.; Wan, X.; Guo, M.; Wang, D.; Dong, X.; Pan, Y.; Zhang, Z. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2004**, *15*, 2185–2188.
- 317. Engelking, H.; Pfaller, R.; Wich, G.; Weuster-Botz, D. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 3591–3593.
- 318. Salvi, N. A.; Chattopadhyay, S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 3397–3400.
- Wada, M.; Kataoka, M.; Kawabata, H.; Yasohara, Y.; Kizaki, N.; Hasegawa, J.; Shimizu, S. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 1998, 62, 280.
- 320. Zhang, X.; Houk, K. N. Acc. Chem. Res. 2005, 38, 379-384.
- 321. Kramer, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 858-860.
- 322. Nogradi, M. Stereochemistry; Akademiai Kidao: Budapest, 1981.
- 323. Hargittai, I.; Hargittai, M. Symmetry through the Eyes of a Chemist; VCH Verlagsgesellschaft: Weinheim, 1986.
- 324. Hoppe, D.; Hense, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1997, 36, 2282-2316.
- 325. Yunusov, S. Yu. *Alkaloids*; Akad Nauk UzSSR: Tashkent, Uzbekistan, 1981 (in Russian).
- 326. Moinuddin, S. G. A.; Hishiyama, S.; Cho, M.-H.; Davin, L. B.; Lewis, N. G. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2003, 1, 2307–2313.
- 327. Zhang, L.; Henriksson, G.; Gellerstedt, G. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2003, 1, 3621–3624.
- 328. Kim, J.-C.; Kim, K.-H.; Jung, J.-C.; Park, O.-S. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2006**, *17*, 3–6.
- 329. Inatomi, Y.; Iida, N.; Murata, H.; Inada, A.; Murata, J.; Lang, F. A.; Iinuma, M.; Tanaka, T.; Nakanishi, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, 46, 6533–6535.
- 330. Lohr, H.-G.; Vogtle, F. Acc. Chem. Res. 1985, 18, 65-72.
- 331. Zhang, X. X.; Bradshaw, J.-S. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 3313-3361.
- 332. Moberg, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 4721-4723.
- 333. Burk, M. J.; Harlow, R. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 1462– 1464.
- 334. Kawasaki, K.; Tsumura, S.; Katasuki, T. Synlett 1995, 1245-1246.
- 335. Kohmura, Y.; Katsuki, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 3941-3945.
- 336. Andrus, M. B.; Argade, A. B.; Chen, X.; Pamment, M. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 2945–2948.
- 337. Fang, T.; Xu, J.; Du, D.-M. Synlett 2006, 1559-1563.
- 338. Fang, T.; Du, D.-M.; Lu, S.-F.; Xu, J. Org. Lett. 2005, 2081-2084.
- 339. Kim, S.-G.; Kim, K.-H.; Jung, J.; Shin, S. K.; Ahn, K. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 591–596.
- 340. Kaufman, D.; Boese, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 545–546.
- 341. Ciclosi, M.; Lloret, J.; Estevan, F.; Lahuerta, P.; Sanau, M.; Perez-Prieto, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 6741–6744.
- 342. Chan, T. H.; Zheng, G. Z. Can. J. Chem. 1997, 75, 629-633.
- 343. Moberg, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 248-268.
- 344. Gibson, S. E.; Castaldi, M. P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 4718– 4720.
- 345. Faller, J. W.; Lavoie, A. R.; Parr, J. Chem. Rev. 2003, 3345-3367.

Biographical sketch



Valeri A. Pavlov was born in Gorky (USSR) in 1939. He studied chemistry at Kazan University. In 1968, he received a Ph.D. degree under the guidance of Professor Klabunovskii at the Institute of Organic Chemistry (Moscow). In 1976/77 and 1991/92 he worked with Professor G. Snatzke at the Ruhr University (Bochum, Germany) as an Alexander von Humboldt postdoctoral fellow. After habilitating as a D.Sc. in 2000 he has been working as an Associate Professor in the Institute of Organic Chemistry (Moscow).